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1. Introduction 1 

On June 30, 2016, the Northwest Territories Power Corporation (the “Corporation” or “NTPC”) 2 

filed with the Northwest Territories Public Utilities Board (the “Board” or “PUB”) its 2016/19 3 

Phase I General Rate Application (the “GRA” or “Application”) setting out for the 2016/17, 4 

2017/18 and 2018/19 test years the forecast costs to supply its customers, revenues that would 5 

arise at existing rates, consequent shortfalls requiring changes to NTPC’s rates and proposed rate 6 

changes to address those shortfalls. 7 

The Corporation filed updated Application Schedules on July 12, 2016 to address two 8 

discrepancies discovered in the initial filing and to update interruptible heat sales revenues as a 9 

result of Decisions 7-2016 and 8-2016.  10 

The Corporation supplemented the Application with a number of additional filings, including 11 

those responses to the first round of information requests filed on November 4, 2016.  NTPC 12 

subsequently also responded to a second information request from the PUB.  NTPC participated 13 

in the technical meeting convened by the PUB on November 30, 2016.  During the meeting, 14 

NTPC responded orally to requests from interveners and the Board for additional information on 15 

the Application.  Following the Technical Meeting, NTPC provided additional information in 16 

response to undertakings given during that meeting and as a result of the PUB’s directives and 17 

rulings on certain initial responses provided by NTPC to information requests.   18 

One of the undertakings arising out of the technical meeting required NTPC to provide updated 19 

Phase I schedules and updated information request responses if there were any material 20 

differences between 2015/16 actuals and the 2015/16 information provided in NTPC’s original 21 

information request responses filed in November of 2016. As a result, on March 1, 2017, NTPC 22 

provided updated Application schedules and an updated response to one information request. 23 

The effect of the updated Schedules on the 2016/19 GRA revenue requirement was outlined in 24 

the Corporation’s March 1, 2017 letter accompanying the Application Schedules.   25 

As a result of the Board’s direction in Decision 12-2016, the Corporation was required to file its 26 

Phase II Application while the Phase I Application process was underway.  As a result, also on 27 

March 1, 2017, NTPC filed its Phase II Application.  The Phase II Application process 28 

proceeded concurrently with the remainder of the Phase I process but is being dealt with by way 29 

of a separate proceeding.   30 

On June 30, 2017, NTPC filed written rebuttal evidence for both the Application and the Phase II 31 

Application.    32 

NTPC presented oral evidence at the hearing convened on July 10, 11 and 12, 2017 in 33 

Yellowknife. The Corporation’s panel of witnesses at the hearing included Ms. Belinda 34 

Whitford, Mr. Cory Strang, Mr. Mark Horton and Mr. Andrew McLaren.  Mr. Larry Kennedy 35 

joined the Corporation’s Phase I panel for a period of time in the afternoon of July 11, 2017 to sit 36 

as the depreciation panel for the Corporation. The Corporation also cross-examined the 37 

intervener panels.    38 

The City of Yellowknife and the Town of Hay River (collectively “YK/HR”) participated in all 39 

aspects of the Phase I Application including submitting information requests, attending the 40 
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technical conference, filing written evidence and responding to information requests from the 1 

Corporation and the Board.  YK/HR also cross-examined the NTPC panel and presented Mr. 2 

Russ Bell at the hearing to speak to and be cross-examined on his written evidence.   3 

The Towns of Fort Simpson, Inuvik and Norman Wells (collectively the “Thermal Generation 4 

Communities” or “TGC”) also participated in all aspects of the Application including submitting 5 

information requests, attending the technical conference, filing written evidence and responding 6 

to information requests from the Corporation and the Board. TGC also cross-examined the 7 

NTPC panel and presented Mr. Azad Merani at the hearing to speak to and be cross-examined on 8 

his written evidence.   9 

The Northern Territories Federation of Labour (the “NTFL”) applied to intervene in the Phase I 10 

Application some months into the proceeding.  The PUB granted that request on or about 11 

November 9, 2016.  NTFL attended and participated in the technical meeting, filed written 12 

evidence and responded to information requests from the Corporation and the Board.  NTFL 13 

cross-examined the NTPC panel and presented Ms. Janaki Balakrishnan at the oral hearing to 14 

speak to and be cross-examined on her written evidence.   15 

Northland Utilities (Yellowknife) Limited and Northland Utilities (NWT) Limited (collectively 16 

“NUL”), also participated in the Application process.  NUL submitted information requests to 17 

the Corporation, participated in the technical meeting and attended at the hearing. NUL did not 18 

submit evidence, cross examine the NTPC panel or present witnesses at the hearing. 19 

The Corporation files this Written Argument in support of its Application.  The Corporation does 20 

not intend to repeat its Application here.  Rather it will address those items and key issues raised 21 

by the interveners and/or the Board through the IR process, in evidence and in the oral 22 

proceeding.      23 

Where the Corporation does not comment or address an item, it relies upon the evidence filed in 24 

support of the Application, including the oral evidence, information request responses, 25 

information provided at the technical meeting and other filings that form the record of this 26 

proceeding.   27 

(a) Requested Relief 28 

The Corporation respectfully requests the Board issue the following Order or Orders: 29 

1. Approving the Test Year Revenue Requirements of $109.251 million in 2016/17, 30 

$112.073 million in 2017/18 and $113.627 million in 2018/19, including approval as required of 31 

the following costs and revenues:  32 

a) Operating and Maintenance Expenses (net of donations) of $41.740 million in 33 

2016/17, $42.920 million in 2017/18 and $43.562 million in 2018/19 for non-fuel 34 

expenses.  35 

b) Fuel Expenses of $23.125 million in 2016/17, $23.596 million in 2017/18 and 36 

$24.049 million in 2018/19 for fuel and purchased power expenses. Variances from fuel 37 
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prices approved as part of the GRA will be charged to or credited to NTPC’s territory-1 

wide Stabilization Fund. 2 

c) Amortization Expenses (net of customer contributions) of $24.097 million in 3 

2016/17, $25.297 million in 2017/18 and $25.981 million in 2018/19. Amortization 4 

expense is comprised of fixed asset amortization, fixed asset true-up and amortization of 5 

deferred charges. NTPC is seeking the following approvals: 6 

i. To adopt new asset amortization rates as determined in NTPC’s 2016 7 

Depreciation Study performed by Gannett Fleming for all asset classes. 8 

ii. To amortize all variances arising as a result of the new depreciation rates 9 

over the average remaining life of the respective asset class, with a minimum 10 

period of 5 years. 11 

iii. To turn net salvage rates back on for future removal and site restoration in 12 

a phased approach. 13 

iv. To increase the annual appropriation for regulatory hearing costs from the 14 

$0.257 million per year level approved in the 2012/14 GRA, to $0.512 million per 15 

year. 16 

v. To increase the annual amortization of the normalized overhaul deferral 17 

account from an annual level of $2.936 million per year approved in the 2012/14 18 

GRA to $4.057 million per year. 19 

vi. To increase the annual amortization of the water licencing deferral account 20 

from an annual level of $0.825 million per year approved in the 2012/14 GRA to 21 

$1.511 million per year.  22 

vii. To decrease the annual amortization of the reserve for injuries and 23 

damages account from an annual level of $0.670 million per year approved in the 24 

2012/14 GRA to $0.250 million per year.  25 

viii. To increase the annual amortization of the employee future benefits 26 

account from an annual level of $0.348 million per year approved in the 2012/14 27 

GRA to $0.500 million per year. 28 

ix. Amortization of deferred expenses and feasibility studies as requested. 29 

d) Return on Rate Base of $20.289 million in 2016/17, $20.260 million in 2017/18, 30 

and $20.036 million in 2018/19 respectively, reflecting an underlying forecast capital 31 

structure financing Rate Base of approximately 40% equity and 60% long-term debt and 32 

capital lease, including the following proposed costs of capital: 33 

i. Mid-Year Cost of Long-Term Debt of 5.38% in 2016/17, 5.08% in 34 

2017/18 and 4.97% in 2018/19.  35 
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ii. Mid-Year Cost of Capital Lease of 9.38% in 2016/17, 9.33% in 2017/18 1 

and 9.28% in 2018/19.  2 

iii. A requested Return on Equity for all assets outside the Thermal Zone of 3 

8.5%.  4 

iv. An interest coverage ratio in the thermal zone of 1.5. 5 

2. Approving the Forecast Test Year Rate Base at $325.072 million in 2016/17, $334.757 6 

million in 2017/18 and $336.159 million in 2018/19 reflecting the net book value of assets in 7 

service, customer contributions, other deferred charges, and an allowance for working capital, 8 

including additions made to Rate Base pursuant to the following projects subject to PUB Project 9 

Permits: 10 

a) Inuvik Gas Engines Conversion to Diesel Fuel Project consistent with Board 11 

Decision 22-2012.  12 

b) Colville Lake Power Plant Replacement Project consistent with Board Decision 7-13 

2015. 14 

c) Jackfish Mirrlees Unit Replacement Project consistent with Board Decision 15-15 

2015. 16 

d) Snare Falls Hydro Unit Overhaul consistent with Board Decision 16-2015.   17 

e) Corporate Intelligent Metering Hub project consistent with Board Decision 2-18 

2017. 19 

The Corporation is also seeking approval for the following Major Project Permits; 20 

f) Snare Forks Overhaul in 2018/19, at a forecast cost of $7.9 million, approval for 21 

which NTPC is seeking in this Application; and 22 

g) Norman Wells Plant replacement project in 2018/19, at a forecast cost of $4.6 23 

million, which approval NTPC is seeking in this Application.  24 

2. Background 25 

(a) The Board’s Powers under the Public Utilities Act26 

The Public Utilities Act1 (“PU Act”) requires the Corporation to have its rates for electric service 27 

approved by the Board.  The PU Act also governs the nature and scope of any such approval.  28 

Specifically: 29 

● Section 49 requires the Board to determine a rate base for NTPC’s property that is 30 

used or required to be used to provide service.  It also requires the Board to 31 

consider the cost of the property at the time that property was first devoted to 32 

1 R.S.N.W.T. 1988, c. 24 (Supp.). 
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public use, the prudent acquisition cost to the public utility, less depreciation, 1 

amortization or depletion, and necessary working capital. 2 

● Section 50 requires the Board to fix a fair return on NTPC’s rate base. 3 

● Subsection 51(2) requires the Board to fix just and reasonable rates and allows it 4 

to consider revenues and costs having regard to certain time periods. 5 

● Subsection 51(3) requires the Board to fix proper and adequate depreciation or 6 

amortization rates for NTPC. 7 

● Section 23 empowers the Board to grant a wide range of relief in respect of the 8 

Application. 9 

Collectively, those provisions empower the Board to consider the various components of the 10 

Application and grant the relief requested by the Corporation. 11 

(b) The Corporation’s Challenges since the 2012/2014 GRA 12 

It has been five years since NTPC’s last GRA application. In that time, NTPC sales have fallen 13 

by approximately 4%,2 while normal ongoing inflation (of typically about 1-2% per year),3 the 14 

costs to replace aging infrastructure and the costs to meet legislative and regulatory requirements 15 

rise. The rates last approved by the PUB no longer provide sufficient revenue to cover the costs 16 

in 2016/17.417 

A key component of the rate mitigation measures implemented for the last GRA was rates that 18 

implemented the full 2013/14 Revenue Requirement were phased in.  The final rates were not 19 

implemented until April 1, 2015.5 As a result, the Corporation’s actual net earnings were $4.77 20 

million in 2014 (5.8% return on equity) and $0.384 million in 2015 (0.46% return on equity)6
21 

notwithstanding the return on equity of 8.5% set by the PUB following the 2012/14 GRA.722 

As outlined at pp. 1-18 to 1-19 of NTPC’s Application, NTPC and its customers are dealing with 23 

challenging times with respect to the cost and/or availability of resources to operate, maintain 24 

and invest in the company, notably:  25 

Aging Infrastructure: Many of NTPC’s generating facilities were constructed in the 1970s or 26 

1980s and in some cases, such as the Corporation’s Hydro Plants, even earlier. NTPC has 27 

worked to use existing assets or upgrade existing plants to meet current service requirements 28 

where possible. However, the inevitable aging of the basic infrastructure will continue to require 29 

NTPC’s investment in a capital replacement program to maintain reliable service for customers. 30 

2 Ex. 35, March 1 filing, Schedule 2.0, pdf p. 1. 
3 As per Ex. 1, Application, pdf p. 24, the CPI for Yellowknife increased by 1.3% in 2014/15 and 1.4% in 2015/16.  
4 Ex. 49, NTPC Opening Statement, pdf p. 1. 
5 Rates for April 1, 2015 were approved in Board Decision 8-2015. 
6 Ex. 35, March 1 filing, Schedule 7.0, pdf p. 7 and 7.4, pdf p. 78. 
7 1-2013 DECISION NTPC 2012-14 GRA, pdf p. 68.  
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Increased Regulation: Responding to changes in regulation requires both human and financial 1 

resources, and the 2016/19 GRA incorporates the resources needed to meet these obligations 2 

under the new regulatory regimes. 3 

Inflation Compared to Lack of Sales Growth: NTPC’s loads have in many cases stagnated or 4 

even declined since 2013/14.  Company wide sales for 2016/17 are forecast to be 18.6 GWh 5 

lower than forecast in the 2012/14 GRA,8 a decrease of 1.9% per year. Upward pressure on rates 6 

from general inflation is compounded by decreased sales, particularly in the hydro zones where 7 

there are little or no fuel savings associated with decreased sales. 8 

Notwithstanding these challenges, as Ms. Whitford described in her opening statement:  9 

NTPC's management, Board of Directors and the shareholder are committed to delivering 10 

service to the customer in an efficient and effective manner and to actively manage costs 11 

within NTPC's control at a level no higher than inflation. 12 

NTPC continues to pursue opportunities to contain operating costs, meet customer 13 

commitments and continue providing safe and reliable power. NTPC has undertaken 14 

initiatives to improve employee safety which include COR certification, the roll out of a 15 

new Lone Worker system and an updated Health and Safety Management System 16 

Training. 17 

… 18 

NTPC is addressing aging infrastructure and the challenge of replacing these assets in 19 

remote communities with logistic challenges through the development of its Power 20 

System Plan, the adoption of a Computerized Maintenance Management System and the 21 

development of an asset management framework. 22 

… 23 

NTPC has added 3 solar arrays in Colville Lake, Wrigley and Ft Liard to its generation 24 

system and 21 net metering customers, increasing the generation supplied by alternative 25 

energy.  Until the use of thermal generation can be replaced as a mainstay in providing 26 

reliable  power and backup power to NTPC's isolated and remote communities, 27 

efficiencies of NTPC's thermal generation is being improved through the continued use 28 

of liquid natural gas in lnuvik as well as the installation of new technologies to NTPC 29 

including the variable speed engine in Aklavik, the Exhaust Gas Recovery Unit in lnuvik 30 

and the replacement of older less efficient diesel engines with newer and more efficient 31 

diesel engines.932 

(c) Shareholder Support  33 

As noted in the Application, the Corporation has received substantial support from its 34 

shareholder, the Government of Northwest Territories (“GNWT”), since the 2012/14 GRA.  35 

Reflected in this Application are increases to Customer Contributions from the GNWT to finance 36 

alternative energy projects and other capital projects. Contributions by the shareholder to capital 37 

projects such Colville Lake Battery and Solar, the Fort Good Hope street light upgrades, and 38 

others, represent a contribution against the capital cost of those specific capital project. This 39 

8 Ex. 35, March 1 filing, Schedule 2.0, pdf p.1. 
9 Ex. 49, Opening Statement pdf p. 2-3. 
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funding reduces the Corporation’s ratebase relative to what it would have been if NTPC 1 

undertook the project without a government contribution.10
2 

In addition, the GNWT provided financial relief in relation to the extreme low water on the 3 

Snare system. The majority of this funding was provided to offset the extra fuel costs incurred as 4 

a result of the extreme low water situation on the Snare hydro system. See pages 13-15 to 13-17 5 

for further details on this funding. If the GNWT funding had not been available, these costs 6 

would have been recovered through a stabilization fund rider paid by NTPC’s customers 7 

including NUL-YK.  A portion of this funding was used to offset costs related to major 8 

overhauls on the Snare Yellowknife system.  Without government funding, NTPC likely would 9 

have sought to capitalize or defer these costs, which would have increased the need for rate 10 

increases to the Snare zone in the current application.11
11 

In May 2016, as a cost saving measure, the GNWT also replaced the Corporation’s Board of 12 

Directors with a Board of GNWT Deputy Ministers. This action reduced the Corporation’s 13 

Revenue Requirement to benefit customers. For the 2013/14 actual year the Board of Directors 14 

incurred a cost of $0.722 million and $0.737 million for the 2014/15 actual year. This includes 15 

salary and wages for NTPC personnel such as the Corporate Secretary, office space, consultants, 16 

travel, supplies and services. The Test Years from 2016/17 to 2018/19 do not include costs for 17 

the Board of Directors or Deputy Ministers.12
18 

These capital and operating contributions made by the GNWT have reduced Revenue 19 

Requirement and are reflected in this GRA to the benefit of the Customers by lowering ongoing 20 

operational costs reducing Rate Base and reducing deferred account balances.13
21 

(d) Shortfall at Proposed Rates 22 

NTPC recognizes the challenges and pressures facing its customers.  In light of those challenges, 23 

NTPC is seeking to transition its customers to the full revenue requirement over a three year 24 

period using stepped rate increases. NTPC has further committed that it will not seek to recover 25 

the shortfall occasioned by the setting of rates at the lower transitional levels for the first two 26 

years. In these particular circumstances, NTPC fully understands that its request to set rates at 27 

the lower transitional rates will likely result in it failing to realize the fair return on equity that it 28 

is requesting the Board fix, until at least 2018/19.  However, NTPC with the full support of its 29 

shareholder, views these rates to be just and reasonable in the circumstances.14
30 

The GNWT contributions together with continuing efforts by the Corporation to minimize 31 

impacts on the customer, enables NTPC to propose base energy rate increases of 4.8% for 2016, 32 

4.0% for 2017/18 and 4.0% for 2018/19 resulting in a managed transition to the full Revenue 33 

Requirement over three years.  Consistent with the Government of the Northwest Territories 34 

(GNWT’s) rate policy guidelines from February 2017, the Corporation is not seeking to adjust 35 

customer charges or demand charges.  36 

10 Ex. 11, NTPC IR Responses, NUL.NTPC-2(c-d), pdf p. 126.  
11 Ex. 11, NTPC IR Responses, NUL.NTPC-2(c-d), pdf p. 126. 
12 Ex. 11, NTPC IR Responses, NUL.NTPC-3(d), pdf p. 132. 
13 Ex. 1, Application, pdf p. 9.  
14 Ex. 1, Application, pdf p. 8 and Ex. 11, NTPC IR Responses, TGC-NTPC.18(c), pdf p. 237.  
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(e) The Minimum Filing Requirements and Process Efficiencies 1 

NTPC’s Application represents the first General Rate Application filed under the Board’s 2 

Minimum Filing Requirements (the “MFR”) and guidelines set out in Decision 13-2014.  NTPC 3 

fully supports the PUB’s efforts in increasing regulatory efficiency and reducing regulatory lag.  4 

NTPC notes that a voluminous amount of information has been filed in support of this Phase I 5 

Application.  However, even with the substantial amount of information filed on the public 6 

record, the additional process step of a technical meeting and the further information exchanged 7 

as a result of that meeting, the parties were able to achieve an oral hearing just over one year 8 

following the Corporation’s filing of the Phase I Application.  The Phase II Application (being 9 

dealt with in the separate module), was heard just over four months following its filing. The 10 

Corporation is encouraged that additional process efficiencies will be realized as applicants and 11 

interveners become more comfortable with the scope and breadth of the MFR.     12 

(f) Scope of Application with Respect to Extraordinary Risks and Events 13 

In the Application, NTPC has outlined its forecast loads, costs and revenues for the test years. 14 

This information was updated by the Corporation in its March 1, 2017 filing in response to 15 

information requests, undertakings given at the technical meeting and directions from the Board.  16 

In that March 1,  2017 filing, the Corporation identified that it is aware that certain events may 17 

occur within the test years that cannot be forecast or quantified at this time due to lack of 18 

certainty.15  As a result, those events are not included within the Application but rather would be 19 

the subject of further review by the Board as necessary when and if they arise.  20 

NTPC has not made any adjustments for a potential NWT carbon tax.  The timing and impact of 21 

such a tax has yet to be determined and therefore the Corporation is not in a position to make an 22 

assessment of any impacts resulting at this time.  23 

NTPC has not made any adjustments related to Imperial Oil Resources NWT Limited decision to 24 

suspend oil production at its field in Norman Wells.  NTPC’s current information is that the 25 

suspension will last until November of 2018. The Corporation does not have sufficient 26 

information at this time to support any adjustments to the Test Year Revenue Requirements 27 

forecasts.  NTPC does not intend to deal with either of those items further herein.  28 

3. Tariff, Sales and Revenues 29 

(a) 2016/17, 2017/18 and 2018/19 GRA Forecasts  30 

The 2016/17 to 2018/19 Test Year sales forecast was prepared consistent with  the methods 31 

reviewed by the Board in the 2012/14 GRA. In Decision 1-2013, the Board directed NTPC to 32 

carry out a regression analysis for temperature sensitive sales where temperature normalization 33 

data is available.  The Corporation outlines at pages 13-3 to 13-5 the results of its analysis in 34 

response to the Board’s directive. The Corporation used weather normalized regression 35 

information in preparing its Test Year sales forecasts where reliable weather data was available.  36 

The Corporation observes that using temperature normalization data did not materially alter the 37 

results of the forecasts compared to using a simple 5-year average use-per-customer (UPC). 38 

15 Ex. 35, March 1 Filing, pdf p. 5. 
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The forecast residential and general service sales for the Application were prepared based on the 1 

temperature normalized average monthly UPC for the communities where reliable Heating 2 

Degree Days (HDD) data is available, specifically, Colville Lake, Deline, Fort Good Hope, Fort 3 

Liard, Fort Simpson, Fort Smith, Inuvik, Lutsel K'e, Norman Wells, Paulatuk, Tuktoyaktuk,  4 

Sachs Harbour, Ulukhaktok and Wha Ti.16  The average monthly UPC was used for the 5 

communities where HDD data is not available, in accordance with previous Board direction.  6 

NTPC used a 5-year rolling average method to calculate UPCs for each customer class. 7 

The load forecast for residential and general service customers was prepared in the following 8 

steps: 9 

1.  The average annual customer count is forecast based on 2015/16 actual customer 10 

counts. 11 

2.  The 5-year (April 2011 to March 2016) average temperature normalized UPC for the 12 

communities where reliable HDD data is available, and average UPC for the 13 

communities where HDD data is not available, for each month is multiplied by the 14 

forecast customer counts for each Test Year to arrive at the sales forecast. 15 

3.  A top-down review of sales forecasts is undertaken to incorporate considerations such 16 

as economic growth rates and other local knowledge. 17 

NTPC adjusted its load forecast with its March 1, 2017 filing.  In the 2015/16 Annual Report on 18 

Finances, filed December 16, 2016, actual 2015/16 sales were 1.2 GWh lower than forecast due 19 

to lower sales in the Taltson and Snare zones.  Subsequently, when updating the sales forecast 20 

using 6 months of actual information for the 2016/17 fiscal year, the Corporation noted that sales 21 

were again lower than originally forecast particularly for wholesale and industrial customers in 22 

the Snare zone. As a result, the Corporation updated the load forecast for all zones based upon 23 

2015/16 actual sales and 6 months of actual data for 2016/17.  This update had the result of 24 

reducing 2018/19 total sales by 1% from 306 GWh to 303 GWh.  25 

During the course of the hearing, NTPC was asked to confirm whether its forecasts reflected the 26 

actual sales data from 2016/17.  In response to undertaking 21, NTPC provided the 2016/17 27 

actual sales data for NUL(YK) and noted that the actual sales data had a variance of 0.73%. 28 

NTPC was asked by Board staff about the reasons behind Yellowknife’s declining wholesale 29 

forecasts, factors behind the decline, changes in usage per customer, and specifically whether it 30 

engages with NUL in relation to the sales forecast.  Mr. Strang’s evidence was that NTPC is in 31 

does consult with NUL about its forecasts:   32 

MR. RETNANADAN:  33 

… 34 

So I guess the question is although you do not have visibility of NUL's customers, do you 35 

at least talk to NUL about whether your forecasts are reasonable? 36 

16 Ex. 1, Application, pdf p. 245. 
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MR. STRANG:  Yes, we do.17
1 

Mr. Strang further clarified that NTPC is in regular communication with NUL. He also addressed 2 

the question of the reasonableness of the sales forecasts and changes in customer usage.  3 

MR. RETNANADAN:  4 

… 5 

When you say you speak to NUL, at what point did you speak to them?  Did you speak to 6 

them after the completion of 2016 or was it before?  How accurate is the forecast in 7 

relation to what we know today? 8 

MR. STRANG:  The undertaking that -- where, subject to check, I believe our wholesale 9 

for 16/17 on an actual basis with the undertaking we are going to provide you was 10 

relatively close, within 1.5 to 2 percent of our sales forecast as shown in our schedules 11 

right now. 12 

Given that, our actuals subject to check when we provide you with the undertaking would 13 

show that the 16/17 actual results were relatively close to the forecast which actually had 14 

as Mr. McLaren outlined did have six months of preliminary actuals in it. 15 

From an operational basis, we speak to NUL constantly; as two utilities that work to 16 

provide service to the customers in the Snare zone we need to do that. 17 

I do agree that our customers are using more electronics.  We see that a lot in our other 18 

communities, our remote communities.  It would seem that as a society we are moving 19 

more along to using that type of item. 20 

What we do see, however, is our usage per customer is decreasing.  We are seeing that 21 

constantly.  As I mentioned earlier, 16/17 results did in fact were fairly close to our 22 

forecast. 23 

…18
24 

NTPC was subsequently requested by Board Staff to assess its wholesale sales forecast against 25 

NUL’s Annual Report on Finances.19  In its response to undertaking 23, NTPC examined the 26 

actual wholesale sales data for NUL(NWT) and confirmed that the historical sales are 27 

reasonable.20
28 

NTPC conducted one further review of the load and sales forecasts in response to undertaking 29 

28, the PUB’s request that NTPC examine its forecasts in light of the additional information that 30 

had been disclosed throughout the Phase I process.  NTPC confirmed that its test year sales 31 

forecasts remain reasonable and consistent.  The Corporation consulted NUL(NWT) and 32 

NUL(YK) in preparing its response to Undertaking #28 and was advised that their latest sales 33 

forecast is not available.21
34 

17 Transcripts Vol. III, p. 435. ll. 19-32 
18 Transcripts Vol. III, p. 436, line 5 to p. 437, line 18. 
19 Transcripts Vol. III, p. 463, line 19 to p. 464, line 23.  
20 Ex. 76, UT #23 Response, pdf p. 1. 
21 Ex. 76, UT #28 Response, pdf p. 22.  
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NTPC notes that in the YK/HR Phase II evidence, YK/HR recommended that the forecast sales 1 

for the Snare wholesale customer be reduced in 2017/18 and 2018/19.22 Although this matter will 2 

be addressed in more detail in the Phase II Argument, NTPC reiterates that it does not agree with 3 

this recommendation and confirms that it views its sales forecasts as reasonable.  In NTPC’s 4 

March 2017 update, it lowered its forecast.  However, rather than using a simple trend as 5 

proposed by Mr. Bell, it exercised professional judgment with the result that the forecast is more 6 

moderate.23 NTPC pointed out in its rebuttal evidence and during the Phase II hearing that the 7 

effect of reducing the sales forecast (with all other elements being equal), would result in upward 8 

rate pressure on all customers. 9 

NTPC submits that the sales forecast, as adjusted in its March 1, 2017 filing, is reasonable and 10 

should be approved by the Board. 11 

4. Revenue Requirement 12 

The Corporation’s Revenue Requirement reflects the forecast cost of providing service in the 13 

Test Years including a return on equity in the two hydro zones and an interest coverage provision 14 

in the thermal zone, as detailed in Chapter 3 of the Application.24  The Corporation’s Revenue 15 

Requirement is comprised of production fuel, operating and maintenance expenses, amortization 16 

and return on rate base.  Specific components of the Revenue Requirement are discussed in 17 

further detail in the following sections. 18 

(a) Fuel, Purchased Power and Generation 19 

(i) Station Service and Losses 20 

NTPC’s approach to forecasting station service and losses is based on a rolling average of the 21 

previous 5 years as reviewed and approved in prior PUB Decisions.  This approach is detailed at 22 

pages 4-1 to 4-3 of the Application. 23 

Forecast  line  losses  have  declined  by  1.6 GWh from  the  2013/14  Test  Year  to the 2016/17 24 

Test Year. The largest component of the decrease reflects decreases on the Taltson system (0.6 25 

GWh) where line losses have little impact on Revenue Requirement due to surplus hydro-electric 26 

generation. Line losses are forecast to decrease modestly in both absolute terms and as a 27 

percentage of generation in the Snare zone and the Thermal zone in the 2016/17 Test Year 28 

compared to the 2013/14 Test Year. 29 

Forecast station service has increased by a small amount in the 2016/17 Test Year compared to 30 

the 2013/14 Test Year, both in absolute terms and as a percentage of system generation. This 31 

increase primarily arises in the Snare and Taltson zones which are supplied by hydro-electric 32 

generation.  33 

22 Ex. 36, YK/HR Phase II Evidence, pdf p. 5.   
23 Ex. 47, NTPC Rebuttal, pdf p. 3.  
24 Ex. 2, NTPC Application, pdf p. 77 with certain minor revisions as described in Ex. 13, the September 19, 2012 
Re-filing. 
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NTPC continuously monitors its station service usage to keep it as low as possible. As evidenced 1 

in the Application, station service use in the Thermal zone has been stable year over year and 2 

stays at approximately 4% of generation. Conversion to LED lighting had also been completed in 3 

the following communities to reduce the volume of station service: 4 

a) Snare 5 

b) Bluefish 6 

c) Jackfish 7 

d) Inuvik 8 

e) Tuktoyaktuk 9 

f) Fort Liard 10 

g) Fort Simpson 11 

h) Fort McPherson 12 

i) Hay River Warehouse25
13 

Taken together, line losses and station service forecasts in the Application are lower on an 14 

absolute basis (31.0 GWh in 2013/14 compared to 29.5 GWh in 2016/17) and approximately the 15 

same percentage of total generation (8.8% in 2013/14 compared to 8.9% in 2016/17).  16 

The TGC recommended that the forecasts for line losses and station service be adjusted by 17 

removing any years that are more than 20% higher than the average of the remaining years.26
18 

NTPC disagrees with this recommendation. NTPC views the five year rolling average is 19 

appropriate as line losses and station service data is inherently variable and the five year rolling 20 

average reflects a reasonable forecast for the test years including both high and low years. NTPC 21 

believes that any adjustment to remove years that are higher than average should be balanced by 22 

adjustments for years that are lower than average.27
23 

NTPC similarly disagrees with the TGC recommendation that use of a 10 year rolling average is 24 

more appropriate. While this approach would certainly introduce more data points, NTPC 25 

believes that approach would also introduce more variability.  NTPC further views 10 years as 26 

too distant to be relevant to current operations. 5 years achieves the appropriate balance of 27 

reasonably current data and a long enough period of time to smooth the impacts of any outliers.28
28 

NTPC disagrees with any suggestion that the inclusion of outliers in the calculation of the five 29 

year rolling average acts as a disincentive to improving line losses and station service.  As Mr. 30 

McLaren explained to TGC counsel:  31 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  32 

… 33 

I guess my question is:  Wouldn't you agree with me that if you include a higher loss 34 

years in the average that this would not incent you to attempt to reduce losses, and is 35 

inconsistent with your overall theme to improve service to your customers?   36 

25 Ex. 11, NTPC IR Responses, NTPC.TGC-8(c), pdf p. 209. 
26 Ex. 39, TGC Evidence, pdf p. 5. 
27 Ex. 47, NTPC Rebuttal, pdf p. 6. 
28 Ex. 47, NTPC Rebuttal, pdf p. 6. 
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MR. MCLAREN:  I disagree that the corporation absent that has no incentive to improve 1 

losses or station service.292 

Mr. McLaren also clearly outlined the difficulty in assessing line losses in a vacuum absent an 3 

analysis of the costs to reduce line losses and a consideration of efficiency:  4 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:   5 

… 6 

First of all, would you agree with me that it is in your interest and the interest your 7 

customers to keep losses as low as possible?   8 

MR. MCLAREN:  I believe it is in the corporation's interest to reflect losses that are 9 

consistent with operating the system in a safe manner, and given the constraints in the 10 

communities, that it should and it will -- it does -- seek to keep those as low as 11 

reasonable.  12 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  What you are saying is you would agree that the company should 13 

try to keep losses as low as is reasonable?   14 

MR. MCLAREN:  Yes, and I believe it does.  15 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  You believe it does, so you don't think that the company could do 16 

anything to improve losses?   17 

MR. MCLAREN:  I think there is a certain level of losses that are inherent and 18 

unavoidable in operating an electric system, and the company has experience in these 19 

communities' operating.  The test year forecasts reflect the company's operating 20 

experience in terms of the losses that are just part of operating in those systems, 21 

particularly in some very small communities.  22 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  But you would agree with me that there is always room for 23 

improvement.  Isn't that fair?   24 

MR. MCLAREN:  There can be room for improvement.  The question is:  Is it cost 25 

effective to seek to drive the losses down?  It requires investment in order to be able to 26 

achieve that.  In some cases, you would spend more money reducing the losses than you 27 

would save.  I don't think that would be a good outcome for the corporation or its 28 

customers.  29 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  But in some cases, you could reduce losses as a net benefit.  30 

Right?   31 

MR. MCLAREN:  I think the corporation does -- where it can see those opportunities, it 32 

does seek to do those.  Yes.  33 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  You would agree that that is in the interest of the corporation and 34 

the customers?   35 

MR. MCLAREN:  Yes.30
36 

While there may be room for improvement in line losses, the Corporation is required to and does 37 

continually assess the costs of improvement against the benefits of reducing the line losses.  38 

29 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 306, ll. 12-20.  
30 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 307, line 14 to p. 309, line 11. 
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(ii) Generation 1 

Generation forecasts for the Test Years are the sum of sales, line losses and station service. The 2 

generation mix for systems with more than one source of generation were forecast based on the 3 

following methods: 4 

● Snare zone: The generation forecast assumes that a minimum of 5 GWh of diesel 5 

generation is required for peaking and other system support functions based on a 6 

review of average actual diesel generation requirements for the years prior to the 7 

onset of the extreme low water in 2013/14. The balance of generation is forecast 8 

to be provided by hydroelectric generation. 9 

● Taltson zone: The generation forecasts assumes a minimum diesel requirement for 10 

Fort Smith and Fort Resolution based on the average diesel generation for the 11 

most recent five years. The balance of generation is forecast to be provided by 12 

hydroelectric generation. 13 

● Inuvik: The proportion of generation supplied by natural gas compared to diesel is 14 

forecast based on the ratio of 40% natural gas to 60% diesel, consistent with the 15 

forecasts provided in the 2014 Phase II application. 16 

● Norman Wells: The generation forecast assumes a minimum diesel requirement 17 

based on the actual diesel generation for the most recent five years. The balance 18 

of generation is forecast to be provided from purchased power. 19 

TGC raised concerns during the oral hearing with the forecast generation related to solar.  The 20 

basis for the forecasts for solar generation are outlined below:   21 

● Fort Simpson: The generation forecast assumes 100,000 kWh annually of solar 22 

generation. The forecast was based on the three year average solar generation as 23 

there was only three years of actual generation data available.31 The balance of 24 

generation is forecast to be supplied through diesel generation. 25 

● Colville Lake: The generation forecast assumes 112,000 kWh annually of solar 26 

generation, consistent with the information provided by the Corporation in its 27 

major  project permit application to the Board.32 Specifically, the solar output was 28 

estimated using NREL and NRCAN solar potential models. Models were 29 

consistent with each other and are based on Inuvik climate, Colville Lake latitude, 30 

optimal tilt, and inputting estimates for inverter efficiency, system losses etc.33
31 

There was no actual solar generation data available The balance of generation is 32 

forecast to be supplied through diesel generation. 33 

● Fort Liard: Beginning in 2018/19, the generation forecast assumes 30,000 kWh 34 

annually of solar generation. The solar project has not yet been commissioned and 35 

31 Ex. 34, Undertakings-Directive Responses, Revised TGC.NTPC-8, pdf p. 29. 
32 Refer to Page 3 of Decision 7-2015.  
33 Ex. 34, Undertakings-Directive Responses, Revised TGC.NTPC-8, pdf p. 30. 
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as a result, no actual solar generation data is available. The balance of generation 1 

is forecast to be supplied through diesel generation. 2 

● Wrigley: Beginning in 2018/19, the generation forecast assumes 8,000 kWh 3 

annually of solar generation. The balance of generation is forecast to be supplied 4 

through diesel generation. 5 

In the course of the hearing, NTPC undertook to provide additional information in relation to the 6 

actual solar generation for Colville Lake and Fort Simpson. The Corporation provided 2015/16 7 

actual solar generation information for Fort Simpson and Colville Lake as well as the 8 

information used to develop the solar generation forecasts for Fort Liard and Wrigley in 9 

undertaking 3.34 In response to TGC.NTPC-75 (b) the Corporation confirmed it is not proposing 10 

to update any test year forecast information based on 2015/16 actual solar generation.  11 

The Corporation’s forecast 2016/17 Test Year generation requirements have changed compared 12 

to the 2013/14 Test Year. Total generation has decreased by 20.0 GWh (5.7%) due to a decrease 13 

in sales (18.5 GWh) and a reduction in line losses and station service (1.6 GWh). Although the 14 

extreme low water conditions had NTPC generating only 53% of its generation with hydro in 15 

2015/16, water levels are back up35 and the Corporation’s 2016/17 forecast generation mix is 16 

similar to that forecast for the 2013/14 Test Year with hydro generation forecast to supply 74% 17 

of the Corporation’s total generation.  The remaining generation requirements are supplied 18 

primarily through diesel generation with a small amount (approximately 6%) from natural gas, 19 

purchased power and solar generation. 20 

(iii) Fuel Efficiency and Fuel Volumes 21 

Fuel efficiency forecasts were prepared based on the three year weighted average method 22 

previously reviewed and approved by the Board. A weighting of 3 was assigned to the highest 23 

efficiency year, 2 for the middle efficiency year, and 1 for the lowest efficiency year. The Test 24 

Year forecasts incorporate actual fuel efficiencies for the three most recent actual years available.  25 

There were a number of genset replacements as well as a solar installation that the Corporation 26 

anticipates will positively impact plant efficiency including among others, the Jean Marie River 27 

replacements, the Gameti replacement and the Colville Lake upgrade.36
28 

Corporate wide diesel fuel efficiency has improved by approximately 1% compared to the 29 

2013/14 Test Year. There were small decreases in average fuel efficiencies in the Snare and 30 

Taltson zones where diesel generation supplements the hydro-electric generation. In the Thermal 31 

zone, where over 90% of the Corporation’s diesel generation arises in the 2016/17 Test Year, 32 

forecast diesel fuel efficiency has improved by approximately 1%. 33 

Gas efficiency for the Thermal zone has decreased slightly (less than 1%) compared to forecasts  34 

included  as  part  of  the  2014  Phase  II  application  reflecting additional operating experience. 35 

34 Ex. 52, UT#3, pdf pp. 1-2.  
35 Exhibit 49, Opening Statement, pdf p. 3. 
36 See Ex. 1, Application, pdf p. 194 to pdf p. 196, for additional information.  
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Fuel volumes for the Test Years are forecast based on the forecast generation and the forecast 1 

fuel efficiencies. 37
2 

During the oral hearing, NTPC was asked to update fuel efficiencies presented in Table 1 of 3 

TGC.NTPC-9 (a) to include 2015/16 actual results for fuel and gas efficiency (kWh/L) by 4 

community.  This information as presented in Exhibit 60 demonstrates that including the 2015/16 5 

information would result in:  6 

● an increase in 2016/17 corporate-wide diesel generation efficiency from 3.589 7 

kWh/litre to 3.607 kWh/litre 8 

● an increase in 2016/17 gas generation efficiency to 3.530 kWh/m3. 9 

In response to undertaking 28, the Corporation proposed to adjust the fuel forecast for all test 10 

years using the 2015/16 actual information.38 The net impact of adopting these fuel efficiency 11 

changes would be to reduce the production fuel expense by $0.236 million in 2016/17, $0.242 12 

million in 2017/18 and $0.242 million in 2018/19.  13 

(iv) Fuel Prices 14 

Fuel prices used for Test Year forecasts are based on the most recently available actual prices, 15 

consistent with the method used in the 2012/14 GRA. On average,  diesel fuel prices are forecast 16 

to be 10% lower in 2016/17 compared to 2013/14.  Purchased power prices are forecast to be 17 

approximately 40% lower. Natural gas prices are forecast to be 5% lower. See page 4-8 and 18 

Schedules 4.0.1 through 4.0.4 for more details on fuel prices.   19 

NTPC submits that its forecasts for station service and line losses, fuel efficiencies, generation 20 

and fuel price forecasts are reasonable and should be confirmed by the Board.  21 

(b) Non-Production Fuel Operating and Maintenance Expenses 22 

The Corporation’s Operating and Maintenance Expenses are discussed at pages 5-1 to 5-8 of the 23 

Application.39 Operating and Maintenance Expenses comprise $41.74 million of the 2016/17 24 

revenue requirement, $42.92 million of the revenue requirement in 2017/18 and $43.56 million 25 

in 2018/19.40 Components of the test years’ operating and maintenance expenses are described 26 

below.  These costs are required to maintain NTPC’s operations and reliable service 24 hours a 27 

day, seven days a week, 365 days a year. 28 

(i) Salaries and Wages 29 

The Corporation’s salaries and wages expense is comprised of all salaries and wages, overtime, 30 

at risk compensation, standby pay and call-back pay for full time and casual employees, as well 31 

as related benefits such as employment insurance, Canada pension plan, health insurance, public 32 

service pension plan, northern living allowance, and local differential payments. Salaries and 33 

37 Ex. 1, Application, pdf p. 99. 
38 Ex. 76, UT #28 Response, pdf p.23.  
39 Ex. 1, Application, pdf pp. 109-116.  
40 Ex. 35, March 1 Filing, Schedule 5.3-0, pdf p. 46.  
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wages are forecasted at $23.811 million for 2016/17 year as discussed at pages 5-2 through 5-5 1 

of the Application and per the March 1 Update.41 This increase as compared to the 2013/14 test 2 

year reflects average increases resulting from collective agreements, annual experience 3 

increments for employees and increases to the employer’s portion of employee benefits as well 4 

as changes in staff complement.  5 

In responding to BR.NTPC-9(b), the Corporation noted adjustments to the allocation of salaries 6 

for the Environmental Licensing Specialist from the Health, Safety & Environment division and 7 

the Senior Civil Hydro Engineer from the Asset Management and Engineering division. Those 8 

salaries are properly allocated 50% of their salaries to the water license deferral account. 9 

Correction of that allocation reduced the O&M expenses by $0.145 million in 2016/17, $0.146 10 

million in 2017/18 and $0.149 million in 2017/18. The March 1, 2017 filing reflects this 11 

adjustment.  12 

Changes to the staff complement included  13 

● the elimination of the Corporation’s Board of Directors and replacement with a 14 

Board made up of GNWT Deputy Ministers.  This resulted in the elimination of 15 

1.5 FTEs.  16 

● Four new developmental positions (two Hydro Plant Operators, stock keepers and 17 

a diesel mechanic) to assist in succession planning. 18 

● One Plant Superintendent has increased by .25 FTE while another Plant 19 

Superintendent has become an employee rather than a contract worker; 20 

● To assist in the strategic goals of preventive maintenance and asset management, 21 

two new FTEs have been created specifically a CMMS Specialist and a 22 

Maintenance Planner while four existing positions have been refocused. 23 

● The Corporation has also added 3 FTE’s due to increased regulatory compliance 24 

and reporting, a Management Accountant for regulatory and PSAS accounting, an 25 

Environmental Licensing Specialist and a Construction Health and Safety 26 

Coordinator.  27 

● The creation of 3.5 new FTE positions in relation to the customer service strategic 28 

initiative, specifically a Director, Manager and Distribution Technologist and the 29 

conversion of one part time customer service representative to a full time position.30 
42

31 

The Corporation expanded on the rationale for changes to the customer service division in the 32 

oral hearing.  Mr. Strang explained, with reference to BR.NTPC-9, that while there are a total of 33 

41 Ex. 1. Application, pdf pp. 110-113, and Ex. 35, March 1 filing, Schedule 3.0, pdf p. 24.  
42 Ex. 1, Application, pdf p. 111 – pdf p. 113.   
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11 FTEs in the customer service division as of the 16/17 Test Year, of those 11 positions, only 1 

3.5 are new FTE positions.43  Mr. Strang described the improvements as follows:   2 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  I think you talked a little bit about this, but...so this new customer 3 

service division, what additional responsibilities will it have compared to what the people 4 

who are currently doing this function in different areas have?  So what additional 5 

functionalities or responsibilities will be there? 6 

MR. STRANG:  The customer service division that we built is a reorganization of 7 

existing personnel.  As you mentioned, there was a director, a new director position 8 

created for it.  The idea would be is that we want to respond quicker to the demands from 9 

our customers. 10 

Previously, in the way we were organized before, the director of the region who is also in 11 

charge of maintaining the generation source, the transmission or distribution source, 12 

would also be in charge of customer service.  We created a new customer service 13 

director, so their sole focus is the service of our customers.  We felt this was based 14 

on...based on information received from our customers, we felt that this was an 15 

appropriate measure to complete. 16 

It also includes when a customer wants to install a new service, we created a new...we 17 

call it a distribution technologist position where, if they submit, "I need some work on my 18 

house," as a call centre, the forms are all online.  They can fill them out.  They send it in, 19 

and it is more focused.  Whereas before, it was based on the regional side. 20 

What we felt, though, was the fact that that one director had multitudes of 21 

responsibilities, of keeping the lights on, making sure that the distribution lines, trees 22 

weren't hitting it or what have you.  We felt we could do a better job at our customer 23 

service.  So we refocused existing personnel and we created a couple more positions to 24 

refocus, to provide the level of service that our customers were demanding.4425 

Mr. Strang agreed that the improvements to the customer service division were not in response to 26 

customer feedback that NTPC’s customer service was lacking, however, the Corporation 27 

recognized that the type of customer service being sought by customers was changing, as was the 28 

nature of the interactions. Customer expectations for customer service have evolved and the 29 

Corporation is responding to that evolution:  30 

MR. STRANG: …  As a company, we have heard from our customers that they want 31 

improved customer service.  They want the Twitter feeds on power outages.  They want 32 

the improved website.  They want more direct knowledge with us as a utility. 33 

It is difficult to try to quantify the cost of something that is being requested and 34 

something that we feel that we need to do to provide for our customers to break that out.  35 

If you are trying to compare customer service from the 2000 levels, where the direct -- 36 

the only contact we had with our customers was them getting a bill, versus now, where 37 

they can come on to our website, they can ask us questions and respond to Twitter feeds 38 

and things of that nature, and these are all things that our customers are asking of us, in 39 

this, to perform, to be able to pay their bills online. 40 

It is difficult to sit and say in the year 2017 that the customer service that we are 41 

providing our customers would be okay at a 2000 level or a 1985 level, where we had one 42 

43 Transcripts Vol. I, p. 125 ll. 5-8.  
44 Transcripts Vol. I, p. 129, line 18 to p. 131, line 8.  
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number and you essentially called the customer service rep at the local office.  That is not 1 

what we trying to hear from our customer base, given the technology changes we are 2 

facing with our customers.  So it is very difficult to try to quantify that answer that you 3 

are asking.454 

The Corporation is also committed to strengthening the next generation of NTPC employees and 5 

increasing succession plans through creation of 22 part time summer student positions assisting 6 

Plant Superintendents in remote communities. This is for the 2017/18 and 2018/19 Test Years 7 

and increased salary and wages by $0.220 million in 2017/18 and $0.224 million in 2018/19. 8 

Given the evidence on the record, the Corporation submits that its forecast salary and wage 9 

expenses in the test years are reasonable and necessary, and should be approved. 10 

(ii) Non-Production Fuel 11 

Non-production fuel, includes the cost of vehicle fuel, heating fuel for buildings, and lube, grease 12 

and antifreeze costs for general operations.  The cost of vehicle fuel, building heat and lube 13 

grease and antifreeze has increased from $0.940 million in 2013/14 Test Year to $1.278 million 14 

in 2016/17. The increase is driven by increased consumption of consumables (lube and oil) due 15 

to the increased preventative maintenance program and higher forecast costs for building heat 16 

than in the 2013/14 Test Year. 17 

TGC questioned the Corporation about decreases in non-production fuel expenses between 18 

2014/15 and 2015/16.  The Corporation confirmed that the decreased expenses from 2014/15 to 19 

2015/16 was not reflective of less preventative maintenance but rather is the result of the funding 20 

provided by the GNWT in relation to the extreme low water situation: 21 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  So what you are saying...so do you agree or disagree with the 22 

statement that you used less non-production fuel and lubricants and you had less or lower 23 

preventative maintenance and lower building heat than in 2015/16 than you had in 24 

2014/15?  Do you agree or disagree with that statement? 25 

MR. STRANG:  I disagree with that statement.  The amount of lube grease and antifreeze 26 

included in 15/16 is for the amount that is charged to customers. 27 

The Government of the Northwest Territories, for its extreme low-water funding, paid for 28 

an amount of the diesel fuel and lube fuel that was incurred for the 15/16 actual year for 29 

the extreme low-water event that occurred in the zone.  And that is the reason why there 30 

is only $110,000 shown, what was charged for customers for that fiscal year for 15/16. 31 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  I think I got you.  So what you are saying is, in 15/16, there was a 32 

one-time subsidy basically for that, for those amounts, that doesn't occur in other years.  33 

Is that right? 34 

MR. STRANG:  There was the extreme low-water funding provided by the Government 35 

of the Northwest Territories to cover the extreme low-water event that occurred in the 36 

Snare zone for that year. 37 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  That is an offset to the amount that you would spend on this 38 

category of cost. 39 

45 Transcripts Vol. I, p. 128, line 6 to p. 129, line 9.  
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MR. STRANG:  Yes, that is correct.  And that amount is shown in our rate stabilization 1 

fund updates that we just provided to the Board two months ago.462 

In light of all the evidence on the record, the Corporation submits that its forecast non-production 3 

fuel expenses in the test years are reasonable and necessary, and should be approved. 4 

(iii) Supplies and Services 5 

Supplies and services represent the cost of maintaining the plants and equipment and include 6 

such costs as supplies, freight, contractors, professional development and administration. The 7 

cost of supplies and services has increased from $12.489 million in the 2013/14 Test Year to 8 

$14.456 million in the 2016/17 Test Year. It should be noted that the Corporation revised its 9 

supplies and services forecast costs after its initial filing.  As outlined in revised TGC.NTPC-14, 10 

the supplies and services costs have been reduced by $0.300 million in 2016/17, $0.306 million 11 

in 2017/18 and $0.312 million in 2018/19.47
12 

The year over year change is from applying a 2% inflation rate consistent with the original 13 

forecast. Reductions are related to the safety program and contract management processes 14 

maturing resulting in a reduced requirement for consulting costs. While those costs had increased 15 

in previous years, as those programs have now been developed and are in use, the costs are 16 

expected to decline.48 Legal costs for HR management are forecast to reduce as union 17 

negotiations move to an agreement and the hire and transfer costs return to levels prior to 18 

2014/15.49  NTPC subsequently confirmed the costs in relation to legal risk management and 19 

safety compliance are $241,000 for 2016/17, $246,000 for 2017/18 and $251,000 for 2018/19 20 

while expense for human resource management for 2016/17 test year is $701,000, for 2017/18 is 21 

$715,000 and for 2018/19 is $729,000. 50
22 

The TGC raised concerns with NTPC’s brushing expense. The 2016/17 forecast reflects an 23 

increase of $0.150 million from 2013/14.  As discussed in previous rate applications brushing 24 

expenses vary notably from year to year and the Corporation is managing to a budget of 25 

approximately $0.700 million. 26 

TGC questioned whether the actual brushing work in 2014/15 and 2015/16 reflected additional 27 

work deferred from 2013/14 when a stop work order was issued.51  NTPC confirmed in its 28 

Rebuttal Evidence that no increased brushing work was conducted in either of those years.  The 29 

Corporation incurred brushing costs consistent with the $.700 million budget (averaging $0.655 30 

million over the two years).52  The Corporation also explained that it has a 15 year brushing 31 

program.  It described the cyclical nature of brushing and noted that while the forecast costs may 32 

not reflect the five year average, the Corporation had considered the brushing that would be 33 

required in the next three years given the current point in the brushing cycle:  34 

46 Transcripts Vol. I, page 105, l. 8 to p. 106, line 18. 
47 Ex. 35, Undertakings-Directive Responses, Revised TGC.NTPC-14, pdf pp. 34-37. 
48 Transcripts Vol. I, p.156, ll. 1-23. 
49 Ex. 35, March 1 Update Letter, pdf p. 3. 
50 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 263, line 20 to p. 264, line 1. 
51 Ex. 39, TGC Evidence, p. 6, pdf p. 7. 
52 Ex. 47, NTPC Rebuttal, p. 9, pdf p. 9. 
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MR. JEERAKATHIL:  And then, in the forecast years, it jumps up to $710,000 to 1 

$738,000, from 2016/17 to 2018/19.  And our question is how did you reach a forecast in 2 

the over $700,000 range when your actual five-year average was $428,000? 3 

MR. STRANG:  As per our previous conversation we just had about the cyclical nature 4 

of our brushing program, we are coming up to a time where a lot of our...for the next 5 

three years, we feel that the amount that is required to be brushing is approximately 6 

$700,000, which has been shown for the last two...actual costs for the last two fiscal years 7 

was just under, the average was just $700,000. 8 

Due to the cyclical nature of our brushing program, the next three years up to the 2019 9 

test year, this is coming into a time when we will be increasing our brushing program, 10 

due to the cyclical nature of the brushing. 11 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  But you agree that that forecast is not consistent with the 12 

direction in Decision 1-2013? 13 

MR. STRANG:  We completed a brushing program review in 2015, reviewed that to 14 

what the PUB approved, which was $560,000 by the 13/14 test year.  Given the inflation, 15 

even if you increase that inflationary amounts given what we needed to do over the next 16 

several years, we increased that to $700,000.  That is the annual budget that the 17 

corporation is maintaining.  That is what we spent in the last two fiscal actual years. 18 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  But it isn't the five-year average, is my point. 19 

MR. STRANG:  That's correct.5320 

The Corporation notes that the previous Board direction includes annual brushing costs for each 21 

zone based on the five actual-year average brushing costs, with due adjustment for inflation and 22 

any forecast scope changes.  The Corporation’s forecast is exactly that, the five year average 23 

with adjustments for inflation and as Mr. Strang noted, the increased scope of the upcoming 24 

brushing program.  25 

TGC also raised concerns about the Corporation’s test year forecasts for Satellite 26 

Communications. 27 

MR. JEERAKATHIL: Okay, thank you. Can you explain why the costs decrease in each 28 

of 2014/15 and 2015/16 and then go up dramatically in the test years? For the plant level 29 

costs, I guess, because I don't know what the other ones are off the top of my head. 30 

MR. STRANG: When I refer to table 7 from our rebuttal evidence, the total cost for plant 31 

and common was $504,000 in 2013/14. It increased to $575 in 2014/15 and then 32 

decreased again to $500,000 in the 2015/16 actual year, for an average of $513,000 with 33 

a maximum increase incurred of $575,000 in the 2014/15 year. A forecast of $552,000 is 34 

reasonable. 35 

MR. JEERAKATHIL: Okay, thank you for that. What I am seeing here is a significant 36 

increase in the plant-level satellite and communication costs and a significant drop in the 37 

common satellite and plant common costs from 2015/16 actual to the test years. Can you 38 

explain why that is occurring? 39 

MR. STRANG: The telecommunication costs are incurred at each plant so the costs are more 40 

appropriately recorded at the plant level.54
41 

53 Transcripts Vol. I, p. 138, line 23 to p. 140, line 8. 
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NTPC’s rebuttal evidence filed on June 30, 2017 identifies the actual average cost of satellite 1 

costs for three years was $0.513 million on a corporate wide basis compared to $0.552 million 2 

forecast for the 2016/17 test year.55
3 

TGC also raised concerns about the Corporation’s test year forecast for Maintenance agreements 4 

and the additional $0.180 million in maintenance agreement costs related to boiler inspections, 5 

IT hardware and software maintenance costs due to gaining infrastructure. The costs related to 6 

boiler inspections in the Snare zone where the costs were previously recorded in account 5504, 7 

consultants and contractors. The IT hardware/software maintenance agreements are recorded as 8 

common costs and have increased due to the lone worker program, CMMS and an electronic 9 

workflow and approval process.56
10 

The Corporation submits that its forecast supplies and services expenses in the test years are 11 

reasonable and necessary, and should be approved. 12 

(iv) Travel and Accommodation 13 

Travel and accommodation expense includes all the travel, accommodation and meal costs 14 

associated with staff travel for operational, training and professional development  purposes. The 15 

cost of travel and accommodation has increased from $2.270 million in the 2013/14 Test Year to 16 

$2.329 million in 2016/17. NTPC has been able to maintain lower travel and accommodation 17 

costs through increased telecommunication solutions. The increases in 2017/18 and 2018/19 18 

largely represent inflation except for $0.110 million in training travel associated with the 22 part 19 

time summer students and $0.112 million in 2018/19. 20 

None of the intervenors opposed the Corporation’s travel and accommodation forecasts.  Given 21 

the evidence on the record, the Corporation’s forecast for travel and accommodation expenses in 22 

the test years are reasonable and necessary, and should be approved. 23 

(v) O&M Forecasts are Reasonable 24 

NTPC believes that its O&M forecasts are reasonably and necessary. YK/HR expressed concerns 25 

overall in its evidence that NTPC has significantly over-forecast certain costs for the 2015/16 26 

Test Year and that the over-forecast has a bias that pushes the costs onto wholesale customers.  27 

Based on that concern, YK/HR recommended that forecast O&M for certain costs57 be reduced 28 

by 10%.58
29 

NTPC disagrees with Mr. Bell’s assertion.  The actual O & M variance for all expenses is 1.69% 30 

below the forecast.  Further, while some functional cost categories reflect lower costs than 31 

forecast, others had higher functional costs compared to forecasts.   32 

54 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 275, line 20 to p. 276, line 19. 
55 Ex. 47, NTPC Rebuttal, p. 10, pdf p. 10. 
56 Ex. 76, UT #28 Response, O&M Forecast, pdf p. 23. 
57 Specifically for Hydro Generation, Transmission, General Expense Functions, Administrative Functions and 
Common Costs.  
58 Ex. 36, YK/HR Evidence, pdf p. 7 
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Further, while Mr. Bell stated that NTPC’s forecast shows a “major increase in forecasted 1 

Common Costs”59on cross examination Mr. Bell agreed that in fact there was a reduction in total 2 

common costs of $2.147 million between the 2015/16 Actuals and the 2016/17 forecast and of 3 

that amount $2.120 million is attributable to distribution related common costs which do not 4 

impact YK/HR.  Further, the core common cost portion, which does impact wholesale, was 5 

lower than forecast by $271,000.  Finally, Mr. Bell agreed that the 2016/17 test year forecast for 6 

common costs (which impact wholesale), is forecast to be lower by $886,000 as compared to 7 

2015/16 Actuals and while the 2016/17 distribution related common costs which do not impact 8 

wholesale are higher by $1.237 million relative to the 2015/16 forecast. 60
9 

The O & M forecasts do not show a bias against wholesale customers and are not skewed to push 10 

higher costs onto them. Further, on the whole, NTPC believes that a 1.69% variance in 2015/16 11 

Actuals to Forecast and a .7% reduction in 2016/17 Forecast to 2015/16 Actuals is reasonable 12 

and reflects appropriate forecasting.61
13 

NTPC submits its O&M forecast costs for the Test Years are reasonable and necessary and 14 

should be approved.   15 

(c) Amortization Expense 16 

Amortization expense in the Test Years includes fixed asset amortization, true-up and 17 

amortization of deferred charges. As outlined in the Corporation’s updated filing, Amortization 18 

Expenses (net of customer contributions) is $24.097 million in 2016/17, $25.297 million in 19 

2017/18 and $25.981 million in 2018/19.62 The costs for amortization of fixed assets for the 20 

2018/19 Test Year are $4.56 million higher than for 2013/14.63  From the 2013/14 Test Year to 21 

the 2018/19 Test Year, end of year gross plant increased by $104.5 million to $561.5 million.64
22 

(i) Amortization Study 23 

The Corporation completed an amortization study for electric plant-in-service as at March 31, 24 

2015. (the “2016 Study”). The previous amortization study was conducted as of March 31, 2011.  25 

As with prior amortization studies, Gannett Fleming, as it was at the time, completed the work. 26 

The results of the Gannett Fleming study are included in Chapter 14 of the Application.65
27 

The amortization study consisted of two phases: (1) the estimation of survivor curves and net 28 

salvage percent for each depreciable group and (2) the calculation of annual and accrued 29 

amortization as of March 31, 2015. The estimation of survivor curves involves a consideration of 30 

statistical analyses of historical retirements, discussions with management regarding current 31 

59 Ex. 36, YK/HR Evidence, pdf p. 4. 
60 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 507, line 19 to p. 509, line 7. 
61 Ex. 47, NTPC Rebuttal, pdf p. 8. 
62 Ex. 35, March 1 Filing, Schedule 6.0, pdf p. 54. 
63 Ex. 35, March 1 Filing, Schedule 6.0, pdf p. 54. 
64 Ex. 35, March 1 Filing, Schedule 11.0, pdf p. 82. 
65 See Mr. Kennedy’s evidence at Transcripts Vol. II, p. 331, ll. 7-18.  As per Mr. Kennedy’s evidence, effective 
April 13, 2017, Concentric Advisors ULC purchased the business of Gannett Fleming in Canada.  For ease, NTPC 
will continue to refer to Gannett Fleming through this Written Argument.  
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plans and operating policies, consideration of current developments in the electric industry and a 1 

general knowledge of the life and salvage characteristics of other electric properties. 2 

(ii) Amortization Study Implementation 3 

NTPC is proposing to implement the study for the 2016/17 Test Year. As part of the study the 4 

calculation of accrued amortization is compared to book value accumulated amortization for both 5 

life and net salvage. For the 2011 study, the life variance for accumulated amortization was a 6 

shortfall of approximately $38 million and a surplus on net salvage of approximately $20 7 

million.  8 

For the 2012/14 GRA, the Board approved a “pause” on the collection of net salvage to 9 

gradually permit the surplus to decrease over time.  The Board approved a collection or “true-up” 10 

on the shortfall variance of life accumulated amortization of approximately $1.8 million per year.  11 

As per their 2016 Study, Gannett Fleming remains of the view that net salvage is an important 12 

component of amortization rates. When developing the 2016 Study, it was apparent there would 13 

be a significant increase in recommended net salvage rates developed by Gannett Fleming that 14 

would increase total amortization expense. The Corporation also feels net salvage is an integral 15 

component of amortization rates and to balance increasing energy rates with the  recommended 16 

net salvage rates, the Corporation asked Gannett Fleming to calculate a “phase-in” for the 17 

reimplementation of net salvage accruals. 18 

From the results of the 2016 study, the life shortfall has decreased to $22.7 million from changes 19 

in amortization rates and the Board’s approval of the true-up provision. The net salvage surplus 20 

using the recommended salvage rates is $6.3 million resulting from increases in salvage rates and 21 

the Board’s approval of the pause approach on the collection of salvage.  22 

The weighted average life amortization rate remains constant at approximately 3% from the last 23 

study, however individual life amortization rates by FERC class have changed since the 2011 24 

study as has the asset mix.  This results in a $0.305 million increase in amortization rates. The 25 

true-up for life amortization reduces amortization expense from $1.8 million to $1.228 million as 26 

the life variance has decreased from $38 million to $22.7 million. The Corporation is proposing 27 

to turn net salvage rates back on, albeit through a phased approach recognizing cost pressures 28 

faced by customers. As a result of  the  phased  in  approach,  the  impact  on  amortization  29 

expense  is  a  reduction of approximately $2 million from the recommended net salvage rates. 30 

Gannett Fleming’s analysis indicates NTPC is presently in a $6 million surplus position with 31 

respect to net salvage. The study also indicates although there is a surplus in net salvage, there 32 

should be a true-up on net salvage of $0.150 million per year. This is a result of FERC accounts 33 

with a shorter remaining life being in a shortfall position. The Corporation is proposing not to 34 

collect the true up for net salvage due to the surplus position. 35 

During the hearing, Mr. Kennedy and Mr. Paul discussed the effect of net salvage on rates.  Mr. 36 

Kennedy clarified that negative net salvage does not already result in lower costs to ratepayers:   37 

MR. KENNEDY:  …I will agree the inclusion of negative salvage in the depreciation 38 

rate will increase the depreciation expense but does not necessarily translate to a lower or 39 

higher revenue requirement.  40 
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MR. PAUL:  But there are instances in which such a thing would increase the costs to 1 

ratepayers.  Fair?   2 

MR. KENNEDY:  In certain situations, it would increase it.  In other situations, it would 3 

reduce it.  4 

MR. PAUL:  Again, just on the basic level, when the predicted costs of removal of a 5 

given asset exceeds its salvage value, that is when we generally get a negative salvage.  6 

Correct?   7 

MR. KENNEDY:  That is correct.66
8 

NTFL also asked Mr. Kennedy about the effect of its direction to Mr. Kennedy to cap negative 9 

net salvage.   10 

MR. PAUL:  My understanding of your evidence is that if we were to have adopted your 11 

entire report on negative salvage, it would lead to increased costs to the ratepayers, but 12 

you were asked by NTPC to put a cap of $550,000 on net salvage.  Is that fair?   13 

MR. KENNEDY:  That is fair.6714 

Mr. Kennedy explained that the Corporation is in a position where it could use the surplus in the 15 

fund for net negative salvage as a buffer to help protect today’s ratepayers. The Corporation 16 

confirmed that this approach to negative net salvage was part of its graduated rate approach.68
17 

While Mr. Kennedy also confirmed that one alternative approach to net salvage was not to 18 

included it at all (as is currently the position in Manitoba), he explained his concerns with that 19 

approach as follows:   20 

MR. KENNEDY:  …My concern with that is twofold.   21 

One is, I think, ultimately, it raises the -- overall and over time, it will result in an 22 

increased amount of burden on the toll payer.  Secondly, it makes it generationally 23 

different.  We are asking tomorrow's toll payers to really pay for part of the cost of the 24 

assets that are in service today.6925 

Mr. Kennedy discussed this point further with Board staff.  He agreed with Board staff that 26 

intergenerational equity is one reason why he advocates including net salvage in depreciation 27 

expense.  He also identified the concern that the overall impact on toll payers would actually be 28 

higher due to inflation.  He noted:  29 

MR. KENNEDY: …Then burdening that cost with the labour cost at that point in time to 30 

remove that assets will result in ultimately more money recovered from the toll payers 31 

over the life of both assets than we would have under the recovery mechanism operation 32 

into the depreciation expense.70
33 

In Mr. Kennedy’s discussion with Board staff, he expressed the opinion that “the company has 34 

developed a very reasonable balance.  It is a balancing act.  There will be a time that we do have 35 

66 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 344, line 17 to p. 345 line 7.  
67 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 345, ll. 8-14. 
68 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 346 line 16 to 347 line 20. 
69 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 348, ll. 13-21. 
70 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 351, ll. 13-18 
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to start collecting the total amount of net salvage estimates.”71  In Mr. Kennedy’s opinion, by the 1 

time of the next GRA for 2020, there may be a small deficit but in any event, at that point the 2 

Corporation would be required to begin collecting the total amount.  3 

The Corporation views its approach to phasing in negative net salvage as an appropriate balance 4 

between costs to current ratepayers and principles of intergenerational equity.  The Corporation 5 

submits that its Amortization Expense and the recommendations set out in the 2016 Study are 6 

reasonable and appropriate and should be approved.  7 

(d) Return on Rate Base 8 

The Corporation’s proposed costs for return on rate base total $20.289 million in 2016/17, 9 

$20.260 million in 2017/18, and $20.036 million in 2018/19. This reflects the mix of 60% long-10 

term debt, 40% equity and capital lease financing the rate base assets.   11 

The calculation of Return on Rate Base is in accordance with the Board’s findings for the 12 

2012/14 GRA. In particular sources of financing specifically related to certain components of 13 

Rate Base are addressed first including long-term debt to finance work-in-progress, and capital 14 

lease to be applied 100% to non-thermal assets, leaving “general” capitalization (debt and equity) 15 

to finance the remaining components of Rate Base. The calculation of Return on Rate Base for 16 

the non-thermal assets includes provisions for debt, equity and the capital lease which is, 17 

consistent with past practice. In the thermal zone the ROE has been set to 0% and the effective 18 

cost of debt is set to 1.5 times the forecast debt cost rate.72
19 

(i) Cost of Capital – Return on Equity 20 

The Corporation is proposing an ROE of 8.50% for all three Test Years.  NTPC is proposing a 21 

simplified approach to setting the ROE to reduce regulatory complexity and costs consistent with 22 

the principles set out in the 2009 Creating a Brighter Future Report73 and the approach used in 23 

the 2012/14 GRA. In its Application, the Corporation noted that the requested ROE was similar 24 

or lower than other recent industry benchmark ROEs including the 9.10% approved 2015 ROE 25 

for NUL-NWT and others.74
26 

The Corporation’s proposed capital structure reflects a mixture of between 38-41% equity and 27 

59-62% long-term debt.75 This is close to the 43% equity 57% debt ratio approved during the 28 

Corporation’s 2012/14 GRA.29 

A number of interveners sought further information on the requested ROE and debt equity ratio.  30 

71 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 361, ll. 13-18. 
72 Ex. 1, Application, pdf p. 154.  
73 Efficient, Affordable and Equitable: Creating a Brighter Future for the Northwest Territories’ Electricity System 
available at NTPC website: http://www.ntpc.com/documents/Electricity_Review.pdf. 
74 The Alberta Utilities Commission generic ROE for 2015 of 8.3%; the  long-term  target  ROE  for SaskPower  of  
8.50%  approved  by the  Crown Investments Corporation; and the BCUC’s approval of a 9.15% ROE for FortisBC 
(incorporating a 40 basis point risk premium over the benchmark utility ROE of 8.75%). 
75 Ex. 35, March 1 Filing, Schedule 7.0, pdf p. 67.  
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NUL and TGC raised concerns in their information requests about whether the ROE was 1 

appropriate given the financial support received from the GNWT. TGC questioned whether the 2 

use of industry benchmarks from privately owned corporations was appropriate given the 3 

involvement of the GNWT. NTFL raised issue with the ROE in its argument, recommending that 4 

NTPC adopt the same approach to ROE in the Snare and Taltson Hydro zones to ROE as that 5 

used in the Thermal zone by dropping it and moving away from the rate base/rate of return 6 

model and replacing it with a cost of service model.  7 

In its information responses to NUL and TGC, NTPC stated that it considers the 8.5% return on 8 

equity to be fair. Pursuant to section 50(1) of the PU Act the Board must fix a fair return on the 9 

rate base of a public utility.  The determination of a fair return has been determined by NTPC by 10 

using industry benchmarks. In assessing the fair return that NTPC is entitled to recover under the 11 

PU Act and disagrees that the existence of a supportive shareholder makes the benchmarks 12 

inapplicable. Further, three of the benchmarks used by NTPC are not privately owned 13 

corporations. NTPC’s proposed return on equity of 8.5% is the same as the Provincially-owned 14 

SaskPower and is lower than both the BCUC benchmark return on equity of 8.75% and the 8.8% 15 

2015 return on equity approved for Newfoundland and Labrador Hydro.76 This request to set just 16 

and reasonable rates at the lower transitional rates will likely result in NTPC failing to realize the 17 

fair return on equity fixed by the Board until at least 2018/19.77
18 

During the hearing, Mr. Jeerakathil asked NTPC about the return on equity in other crown 19 

utilities. In Undertaking 10, Exhibit 56, NTPC provided the return on equity and debt equity ratio 20 

for Newfoundland Power, Hydro-Quebec, Newfoundland and Labrador Hydro, the BCUC and 21 

the Alberta Utilities Commission. NTPC also provided information about SaskPower and Yukon 22 

Energy Corporation’s capital structures. NTPC’s proposed return on equity and capital structure 23 

is in line with these industry benchmarks.78 Mr. McLaren provided further clarification on the 24 

selection of the industry benchmarks:  25 

MR. MCLAREN: … The statement in that report is that the governments of 26 

Saskatchewan for all crown utilities, Newfoundland for thermal communities, and 27 

Quebec on electricity generation set a variety of targeted rates of return.  I just wanted to 28 

clarify the context there.  In Newfoundland by OIC by government directive, 29 

Newfoundland and Labrador Hydro used to not receive a return on equity for their 30 

thermal communities only.   31 

That government directive has since changed and currently the utility in Newfoundland 32 

and Labrador Hydro earns the same rate of return on equity for all of its assets, including 33 

the thermal communities, but that was the situation at the time this report was written. 34 

For Quebec, the government sets the price for generation.  The implied return on equity 35 

buried in that price we aren't able to calculate.  We have provided in the attachment the 36 

76 Ex. 58, Undertaking 10, pdf p. 1.  
77Ex. 1, Application, pdf p. 7.  
78 Newfoundland Power has an approved return on equity of 8.5%. Hydro-Quebec has a return on equity component 
for 8.20% for the regulated part of Hydro-Quebec. Newfoundland and Labrador Hydro has an approved return on 
equity target of 8.8%. The BCUC has an approved return on equity of 8.75% with a common equity component set 
at 38.5%. The Alberta Utilities Commission has an approved return on equity of 8.3% for 2016 and 8.5% for 2017.  
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most recently approved ROEs for Hydro-Quebec transmission and distribution, which is 1 

included in the attachment. 792 

With respect to the comparability of NTPC’s proposed capital structure to other publicly owned 3 

utilities, Mr. McLaren stated the following: 4 

MR. MCLAREN: Mr. Paul, I think one of the issues we run into here is that when you 5 

consider all of the dimensions of business risk, NTPC struggles to find any peers anyway, 6 

anywhere, and so we do have some difficulty finding a perfect match.   7 

I would note that in terms of other northern utilities, NTPC's equity ratio of 40 per cent is 8 

consistent with Yukon Energy, which is a northern Crown-owned utility, and also with  9 

the deemed equity ratio that is assumed for rates in Nunavut.8010 

For the thermal zone, the Corporation has continued to apply an interest coverage ratio of 1.5 in 11 

lieu of a return on equity, consistent with the GNWT guidelines. 12 

NTPC’s approach in the Application on interest coverage ratio and ROE allow the Corporation 13 

to finance its ongoing debt obligations and finance its ongoing asset base while minimizing rate 14 

impacts to Customers. 15 

(ii) Cost of Debt 16 

NTPC’s Mid-Year Cost of Long-Term Debt is 5.38% in 2016/17, 5.08% in 2017/18 and 4.97% 17 

in 2018/19.  18 

The effective cost of long-term debt was calculated in accordance with PUB Decision 13-2007. 19 

This is lower than the average cost of long-term debt for the 2013/14 Test Year (5.68%). This 20 

reflects the benefits of refinancing that has occurred since the last GRA and the lower cost of 21 

new debt.  22 

During the 2018/19 Test Year the Corporation will redeem a 6.33% debenture using proceeds 23 

from the sinking fund and internally generated cash. In 2016/17 the Corporation issued a  $60  24 

million  debenture  with  semi-annual  blended  payments  of  interest and principal. The $60 25 

million debt is has a 30 year term and has an annual rate of 3.982%.  The $60 million debenture 26 

was used to redeem the 8.41% debenture in 2016/17 and this resulted in a reduction of $0.644 27 

million in 2018/19 revenue requirement.81
28 

(iii) Capital Lease 29 

The mid-Year Cost of Capital Lease is forecast to be 9.38% in 2016/17, 9.33% in 2017/18 and 30 

9.28% in 2018/19.  The costs of Corporation’s capital lease reflect the continuing obligations to 31 

the Dogrib Power Corporation in respect of the Snare-Cascades project. The costs and structure 32 

of the lease were tested and approved by the PUB and have been applied consistently since the 33 

1995/98 GRA. 34 

79 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 265, line 5 to p. 266, line 2. 
80 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 380 line 20 to p. 381 line 6.  
81 Ex. 35, March 1 Update Letter, pdf p. 2.  
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Based on the evidence on the record in this proceeding, the Corporation submits that its test year 1 

forecasts for Return on Ratebase are prudent and reasonable, and should be approved by the 2 

Board. 3 

(e) Other Revenues 4 

Other revenues are an offset to the Corporation’s Revenue Requirement from non-electrical 5 

sources of revenue. Other revenue is forecast at $1.796 million for all Test Years (2016/17 to 6 

2018/19).82
7 

Forecast other revenues have increased in the 2016/17 test year compared to the 2013/14 test 8 

year mainly driven by higher residual heat revenue and the inclusion of interest on overdue 9 

accounts. 10 

Total other revenue forecast by zone has increased for each zone.  The revenue forecast growth 11 

for Taltson zone is explained by higher interruptible heat sales, reflecting the addition of new 12 

customers, and the inclusion of interest on overdue accounts in other revenues.  Similarly, the 13 

main drivers of the forecast revenue increase for Thermal zone are heat revenue due to switching 14 

to a metered rate for the Inuvik Water Treatment Plant and the inclusion of interest on overdue 15 

accounts, as well as the growth in user pay fees. 16 

A summary of revenue forecasts and methods used are below:  17 

● Connection charges: Forecast is based on a review of the actual revenues for the past 3 18 

years and are forecast to decline slightly.  19 

● Contract work: The forecast is based on a review of the actual revenues for the past 3 20 

years. 21 

● Pole rental revenue: The forecast is based on the review of existing and expected 22 

connections for joint use of poles.  The Pole Rental revenues for 2015/16 are $0.283 23 

million,83 about the same as in 2013/14 and 2014/15.  24 

● Heat revenue: Forecasts for the Test Years reflect higher sales due to metering sales to 25 

the Inuvik Water Treatment Plant and a 3-year actual average for other facilities. In the 26 

past heat sales to this Water treatment Plant were based on a flat rate of $0.040 million 27 

annually. In 2014/15 the Corporation installed a meter for heat sales at the plant and 28 

began billing based on a metered rate. The Corporation noted calculation errors in the 29 

original information provided with the Application.  The corrected heat revenues by 30 

location for 2016/17 and 2018/19 Test Years are $45,000 for Fort Liard and $400,000 for 31 

Inuvik.84 Heat sales pricing is based on the avoided cost of alternative heat sources to 32 

provide some level of cost savings to customers. 33 

82 Ex. 35, March 1 filing, Schedule 3.0, pdf p. 24. 
83 Ex. 35 March 1 filing, Schedule 10.0, pdf p. 81. 
84 Ex. 11, NTPC IR Responses, BR.NTPC-12(b), pdf p. 76 and Ex. 35, March 1 Update Letter, pdf p. 4.  



30 

● Interruptible heat sales:  Forecasts for the Test Years are based on 3-year actual average, 1 

revenue from new customers and rates set as per the existing contracts for Fort Smith 2 

heat sales. 3 

● User pay fees: Forecast is based on expected revenue from existing user pay customers. 4 

● Interest on overdue accounts: Forecast is based on a review of the actual revenues for the 5 

past 3 years. Interest on overdue accounts is forecast at $0.068 million for the 2016/17 6 

Test Year and has been added to the other revenues consistent with the Board Directive 7 

29 from Decision 1-2013. 8 

TGC suggests using a three year average for connection charges. As discussed in response to 9 

TGC.NTPC-24(a), user pay fees have been included in miscellaneous income or connection 10 

charges.85 Table 4 as presented in the NTPC’s Rebuttal evidence clarifies Schedule 10 from the 11 

March 1, 2017 filing by separating out user pay fees from connection charges and miscellaneous 12 

income.86 The $0.235 million 2016/17 test year forecast for connection charges is reasonable 13 

compared to the $0.227 million three year average. The $0.110 million 2016/17 test year forecast 14 

for user pay fees is reasonable compared to the $0.111 million three year average.  15 

MR. JEERAKATHIL: Thank you. I have some questions on your rebuttal evidence so 16 

you might want to have that handy. Starting with connection charges, in your rebuttal 17 

evidence at table 4 at page 7, you show connection charges and user pay fees for 2013/14 18 

of $265,000 and 13 $111,000.  19 

If we refer to schedule 10 of the GRA, March update schedules, Exhibit 35, if you could 20 

also turn up that schedule, there I see the $265,000 actual. My question is: Where are the 21 

user fees of $111,000 shown in schedule 10?  22 

MR. STRANG: They are included in the $341,000 for connection charges. User pay fees 23 

are included in that number for 2014/15.  24 

MR. JEERAKATHIL: So the actuals for 2013 are included in -- the amounts spent in 25 

2013/14 are included in 2014/15? 26 

MR. STRANG: If you refer to schedule 10 for 2014/15, connection charges are 27 

$341,000. 28 

MR. JEERAKATHIL: Yes.  29 

MR. STRANG: That includes the $111,000 for user pay fees. 30 

 MR. JEERAKATHIL: For that year, but what about for 2013/14? They are both $111 in 31 

the table. 32 

 MR. STRANG: In 2013/14, user pay fees are included in "miscellaneous income." You 33 

will see miscellaneous income in 2013/14 is $207,000 as per schedule 10.87
34 

TGC suggests using a two year average for contract work of $0.443 million. In its Rebuttal, 35 

NTPC explained that the three year average for contract revenue is $0.351 million excluding a 36 

85 Ex. 11, NTPC IR Responses, TGC.NTPC- 24(a), pdf p.265.  
86 Ex. 47, NTPC Rebuttal, pdf p. 6.  
87 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 269 line 9 to p. 270 line 13.  
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one-time engine rental.88 The 2016/17 test year forecast revenue of $0.360 million is reasonable 1 

based on the three year actual history. TGC believes a two year average is reasonable whereas 2 

NTPC utilizes a three year average when developing forecasts.  3 

MR. JEERAKATHIL: Thank you. Given that the 2014/15 and 2015/16 amounts average4 

about $443,000 subject to check, or even if you average the $338 for 2014/15 with the 5 

revised number for 2015/16 excluding the engine rental of $487, you get -- if you will accept 6 

subject to check -- $412.5 thousand. Would you agree that the $228 in 2013/14 appears to be 7 

an outlier in terms of the other numbers?8 

MR. STRANG: The corporation feels a two-year forecast limits the data points. The 9 

corporation uses a three-year forecast in a lot of its forecasting methodology.89
10 

In light of the evidence, NTPC reiterates that it views its forecasts for other revenues as 11 

appropriate and reasonable.  12 

(f) Rate Base 13 

The Corporation’s rate base reflects the net book value of assets in service, customer 14 

contributions, other deferred charges, and an allowance for working capital, and includes 15 

additions made to Rate Base pursuant to the a number of projects already approved by the PUB 16 

as well as two additional projects for which NTPC is seeking a major project permits in this 17 

Application. The test year forecasts of the Corporation’s rate base are set out in Chapter 2 of the 18 

Application.  NTPC is seeking approval of forecast Test Year Rate Base of $325.072 million in 19 

2016/17, $334.757 million in 2017/18 and $336.159 million in 2018/19.90
20 

(i) Plant in Service 21 

Gross Plant in Service represents the accounting costs of all regulated assets in service. Each 22 

year the Rate Base calculation considers the opening balance, plus capital additions less 23 

disposals to arrive at the closing balance for the year. The mid-year gross plant figures are the 24 

simple average of the Opening Gross Plant Balance and the Ending Gross Plant Balance. 25 

Forecast 2016/17 end of year gross plant in service increased by approximately $64 million91 as 26 

compared to the 2013/14 Test Year, an average annual increase of approximately 4.45%. The 27 

largest component of this increase from the 2013/14 Test Year is additions to the thermal plant 28 

including the Inuvik LNG project. Investment in alternative energy projects such as solar and 29 

heat recovery account for $4 million and hydro plant investment accounts for $20 million.  30 

(ii) Additions to Plant 31 

The Capital Planning Process is described in detail in Chapter 11 of the Application and will not 32 

be repeated here. The NTPC capital planning process supports the orderly replacement of aging 33 

infrastructure and provides effective management of NTPC assets on a community wide basis. 34 

88 Ex. 47, NTPC Rebuttal, pdf p. 7, Table 5. 
89 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 271, line 21 to p. 272, l. 8.  
90 Ex. 35, March 1 Filing, Schedule 11.0, pdf p. 82. 
91 Ex. 35, March 1 Filing, Schedule 11.0, pdf p. 82. 
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This process prioritizes the Corporation’s assets for replacement, thereby ensuring the 1 

Corporation’s asset base is able to deliver reliable power generation to meet the needs of its 2 

customers. An effective capital planning process is essential to ensure the continued long term 3 

viability of the Corporation. Therefore, the Corporation has developed a comprehensive capital 4 

planning process that will allow it to achieve its strategic objectives and deliver reliable power 5 

generation to its customers.  6 

During the oral hearing, Mr. Horton explained the numerous improvements made as part of that 7 

comprehensive capital planning process.  8 

MR. HORTON:  We now -- with the capital planning process, we do provide more effort 9 

up-front to have better defined scope within a project brief which is still in early stage.  10 

Then at the design phase, we relook at the project, and by then, the scope should be fully 11 

defined.  Once we are in execution, scope changes need to be approved through a change 12 

management forum.  Any additions to scope need approval by senior management.9213 

… 14 

MR. HORTON:  That is how our department is structured.  We have an asset 15 

management department that leads the planning function.  We have a design -- 16 

engineering design group that leads the design phase.  Then we have the project 17 

management group that will execute.9318 

Mr. Horton and Ms. Whitford also spoke to the specifics of the approvals that must be obtained 19 

throughout the process.  Mr. Horton confirmed that for smaller projects, “(t)he project budget is 20 

approved in the planning stage, and then if there are any significant revisions, there would be an 21 

approval”94 and “(i)f there are significant changes that arise because of the design, then there 22 

would be an approval required.”95 Ms. Whitford confirmed that while senior management may 23 

not approve the design phase of all projects:  24 

MS. WHITFORD: … Senior management approves all of the capital projects that are 25 

undertaken by the asset management and engineering team.  We don't necessarily go 26 

through and review all of the designs and stuff, but they are all approved by senior 27 

management.9628 

Ms. Whitford confirmed that for larger projects, specifically projects over $1M, the approvals 29 

would not all be done at the design phase.  Rather there would be a new approval at the various 30 

stages of planning, design and execution as opposed to approving all at one time.9731 

TGC and NTPC discussed the levels of approval required in the capital planning process and the 32 

oversight provided by the senior management and the NTPC Board of Directors:  33 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  What level of information on these projects under $400,000 is 34 

provided to the board of directors?  Is there a summary of the projects provided or not?   35 

92 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 220, line 20 to p. 221, line 4. 
93 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 221, ll. 18-23. 
94 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 222, ll. 11-14. 
95 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 223, ll. 2-4. 
96 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 223, ll. 11-17. 
97 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 224, ll. 7-21 and p. 225, ll. 1-6. 
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MR. HORTON:  I don't deal with the package that is provided, but I do believe it is a 1 

summary of those projects.  2 

MS. WHITFORD:  I just want to clarify the response that is in TGC-30C.  The board of 3 

directors approves capital projects at certain levels.  For a regular replacement project, it 4 

would be all projects greater than $1 million require board approval.   5 

It is only special and enhancement projects that would -- at the $400,000 level that would 6 

be approved by the board of directors.  Everything under those limits are approved within 7 

what we call the senior management envelope.  8 

The board of directors sees there is an envelope that senior management approves of X 9 

million dollars.  That is the detail that they get.  But senior management goes through and 10 

reviews all of those projects on a detailed basis, one by one, and they approve those 11 

individuals.  12 

…  13 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  …  In terms of the projects under $1 million for regular and under 14 

the $400,000 threshold for special, is it -- what level of management is required to 15 

approve those projects?  Is it a CEO, COO, or some other level?   16 

MS. WHITFORD:  We basically have a capital review committee which is made up of 17 

the entire senior leadership team.  That is who approves it.  We all sign off on it.  In 18 

addition, the division manager where the project is happening signs off on it, and the 19 

chief technical officer will sign off on all projects, as well.  20 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  Is that for all capital projects, regardless of -- as long as they are 21 

under those thresholds, the capital planning committee reviews those?  Is that right?   22 

MS. WHITFORD:  Yes, that is correct.9823 

TGC expressed concern with NTPC’s treatment of contingency.  TGC takes the position that the 24 

use of a formula for contingency is not appropriate but rather contingency should be determined 25 

on the basis of a detailed risk register.99  Mr. Merani confirmed in cross examination that this 26 

recommendation was intended to apply to all projects over $400k and that this threshold may be 27 

a “little low”. 100
28 

NTPC views the use of a contingency rate as appropriate and reiterates its position that this is a 29 

common practice among for provincial utilities.  NTPC’s contingency rate ranges from 5% for 30 

some low risk projects to 30% for projects with a greater perceived completion risk.101 NTPC 31 

also views comparison of its contingency rates to Alberta utilities as inappropriate given that 32 

capital project costs are higher in the North, and there are more variables and risks that must be 33 

managed.102
34 

The Corporation does not believe a detailed risk register is appropriate for NTPC.  While the use 35 

of project specific risk registry may be appropriate for much larger utilities in Alberta dealing 36 

with higher value capital projects, in a utility the size of NTPC, where few projects exceed $5M, 37 

98 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 227, l. 5 to p. 228, l. 5; p. 229, ll. 6-24 
99 Ex. 39, TGC Evidence, pdf p. 38.  
100 Transcripts Vol. III, p. 524, line 15 to p. 525, line 2.  
101 Ex. 47, NTPC Rebuttal, pdf p. 13, A12. 
102 Ex. 47, NTPC Rebuttal, pdf p. 13, A13. 



34 

NTPC strongly believes the costs of implementing this type of risk registry far outweigh the 1 

benefits to be gained.103 Indeed, Mr. Merani confirmed in cross-examination that he was not 2 

aware of any utilities comparable to the size of NTPC that use this formal detailed risk register to 3 

quantify capital budget contingency allowances.104
4 

NTPC continues to improve its processes, and has begun to implement a contingency 5 

administration process to track how contingencies are spent.105 Mr Horton elaborated on this 6 

during the hearing:  7 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  With your theme of continually improving the capital budgeting 8 

process and identifying better ways to define project scope, wouldn't you agree it would 9 

make sense to take a look at reducing the automatic default contingency amount of 30 10 

percent?   11 

MR. HORTON:  We have looked at it from another angle, and we have decided, for our 12 

business, we would like to add and are going to add a control on contingency spending.  13 

There will be an approval process to actually spend the contingency, so we now can --  14 

There is a control.  There is a gate for spending of this contingency, and there will be a 15 

rationale for the spending of it.  So we can further learn from that and document 16 

contingency spending properly.  17 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  What is the control?   18 

MR. HORTON:  There will be an approval, management approval for spending of the 19 

contingency.  20 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  Do you know what level?   21 

MR. HORTON:  It will be -- the project manager's supervisor will need to approve the 22 

spending.  23 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  When there is an overage of the budget, is it -- does it get applied 24 

against the contingency allowance first, or how is it funded?   25 

MR. HORTON:  The contingency is approved as part of the budget.  Overages could 26 

possibly be absorbed by the available contingency. 27 

In responding to a Board Information Request, Mr. Merani suggested that NTPC should maintain 28 

monthly and/or quarterly capital reporting submissions to the Board to ensure adequate capital 29 

project controls are in place.  During the hearing, Mr. Merani confirmed that he was suggesting 30 

more frequent reporting and clarified that his recommendation was meant to apply to projects 31 

over $400k in value.106  Further he suggested that the timing of these reports could be fine tuned.  32 

Mr. Merani also suggested that the  reporting be based on a combination of those projects over 33 

$400k, if it does not cause undue administrative difficulty and where project reach a certain 34 

variance threshold.107 He further proposed that those reports be sent both to the Board and to the 35 

interested parties.  36 

103 Ex. 47, NTPC Rebuttal, pdf p. 14, A14. 
104 Transcripts Vol II, p. 523, ll. 11-16.  
105 Ex. 47, NTPC Rebuttal, pdf p. 13, A12. 
106 Transcripts Vol. III, p. 526, ll. 20-25; p. 529, ll. 6-15. 
107 Transcripts Vol. III, p. 528, l. 1 to 529, l. 15.  
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NTPC strongly objects to any requirement for additional reporting to the PUB.  As Mr. Merani 1 

acknowledged, the Corporation has implemented a new capital planning process and there are 2 

assurances that budget excesses will be contained.108 In addition, notwithstanding that the new 3 

capital planning process was not fully implemented until 2016/17, NTPC closed over 150 capital 4 

projects in 2015/16 and the total lifetime spend on those projects was within 2.5% of the total 5 

lifetime budget. This is a reasonable variance. While Mr. Merani referenced “significant 6 

excesses” as part of the rationale for his recommendation,109 NTPC believes that this is 7 

overreaching. While the interveners have pointed out certain instances of projects that came in 8 

over budget, the Corporation explained the reasons or underlying causes for those variances.  9 

Further, the Corporation has had a number of successes where projects have been brought in 10 

below budget.  NTPC’s record on capital projects as a whole is not indicative in any way of a 11 

corporation that cannot manage its capital projects without, to use Mr. Merani’s words, 12 

“significant excesses”.110
13 

Further, this level of reporting would result in increased costs to the regulatory process and 14 

ultimately to the customer and the costs would far outstrip any potential benefits. Mr. Merani 15 

confirmed that he was not aware of any other utilities who do that type of reporting to their 16 

utilities board.111  Even the transmission cost monitoring committee in Alberta, referenced by 17 

Mr. Merani, provides its reports to the AUC only as requested during a proceeding.   18 

The Corporation maintains a fleet of mobile gensets that are strategically place throughout the 19 

zones to ensure NTPC is able to meet each community’s power demand in the event of an 20 

emergency.  Although each plant has sufficient backup generation to meet RFC requirements, 21 

the Corporation must ensure sufficient backup capacity exists to provide emergency generation 22 

in the event a plant goes offline.  The Company’s inventory of emergency gensets is based upon 23 

historical operational requirements.   24 

The TGC sought more information about the frequency of use of the mobile gensets at the 25 

technical meeting.  It also made recommendations in its evidence that the number of mobile 26 

gensets should be based upon the number of gensets used each year in the last three years.112
27 

NTPC disagrees with this recommendation.  NTPC has reviewed its current inventory and 28 

considers it adequate to cover a single plant failure for most Thermal plants (excluding Inuvik) 29 

and to provide support in the even one of the emergency gensets is unavailable due to weather, 30 

transport, maintenance or other unanticipated event. In addition, emergency coverage must take 31 

into account potential delays in transporting the unit by air since this mode of transport depends 32 

upon the available of proper aircraft to transport the unit.113
33 

108 Transcripts Vol. III, p. 532, ll. 21-25. 
109 Transcripts Vol III, p. 532, ll. 11-25.  
110 As per Mr. Merani’s evidence at Transcripts, Vol. III, p. 532, line 12. 
111 Transcripts Vol III, p. 531 l. 25 to p. 532, l. 10. Note that even the transmission cost monitoring committee in 
Alberta rarely provides the TCMC reports to the AUC and even then generally only as requested during a 
proceeding.   
112 Ex. 39, TGC Evidence, pdf p. 14. 
113 Ex. 47, NTPC Rebuttal, pdf p. 15, A16. 
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During the hearing, TGC asked about these limitations.  For example, Mr. Jeerakathil asked 1 

about the mobile genset located in Yellowknife.  Mr. Horton confirmed that this genset could be 2 

used in the road accessible communities of Fort Simpson and Inuvik.  3 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  Okay.  Thank you.  Would there be any special preparations that 4 

would be needed to implement a mobile generator like this in those communities, or is it 5 

just a matter of hauling it up there and plugging it in?   6 

MR. HORTON:  There is some effort to basically plug it in.  It is more of a hardwiring 7 

situation, but it is limited.  It is a fairly quick process.1148 

TGC also raised the possibility of renting gensets:   9 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  Okay, thank you.  How difficult is it for you to rent a generator if 10 

you didn't, for example, have a sufficient number of mobile generators?   11 

MR. HORTON:  If we depend on rentals, then we are at the mercy of what is available to 12 

be rented.  When we rent generators, they have to come from Edmonton as the closest 13 

dispatch point.  There is a response time as well as availability that comes into play when 14 

renting.  15 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  Have you ever rented from Edmonton?   16 

MR. HORTON:  Yes, we have.  17 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  Thank you.  Do you know when the last time you did that was?   18 

MR. HORTON:  No, I don't.  19 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  Thank you.  At page 16 of that response, you indicate that NTPC 20 

has assistance agreements in place with other northern utilities in the event of an 21 

emergency.  Can you tell me which utilities those are?  Sorry, I think that is page 16 of 22 

your rebuttal, I think.  Sorry.   23 

MS. WHITFORD:  I believe we have agreements, whether they are formalized or not, 24 

with YEC with NUL, Yellowknife and Hay River, and Nunavik Qulliq.  25 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  Thank you.  Have you ever used mobile gen sets from NUL or 26 

YEC or QEC?   27 

MS. WHITFORD:  Not to my knowledge.  28 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  Thank you.  Do you know what the response times would be?  29 

NUL isn't too far away.  Do you know what the response times would be compared to 30 

Edmonton for those northern utilities to obtain mobile gen sets?   31 

MR. HORTON:  I can't really comment on the response time other than due to proximity 32 

and known availability that they actually have those things in their inventory.  In certain 33 

cases, the response time would be quicker.  34 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  But is it fair to say you haven't really investigated whether NUL, 35 

NTPC, YEC and QEC could coordinate mobile gen sets together?   36 

MR. HORTON:  You mean share one common pool of gen sets?  Is that what you are 37 

saying?   38 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  Something like that, perhaps.  39 

114 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 250, line 23 to p. 251, line 1.  
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MR. HORTON:  I do not know if we investigated that or not.1151 

While a pool of common gensets may seem like an ideal solution, as always the difficulty for the 2 

Corporation is in predicting when emergency gensets might be required, whether its counterparts 3 

may have those available at that time, and how fast a utility might be able to get hold of that 4 

genset from its counterpart.  Similarly, while renting also might be an effective solution in some 5 

situations, as Mr. Horton stated, NTPC would then be at the mercy of what is available to rent.  6 

As Mr. Merani acknowledged during the hearing, ultimately it is NTPC’s responsibility to keep 7 

the lights on for its customers.116  The Corporation has determined that the number of gensets it 8 

has allows it to fulfill that responsibility without being at the mercy of other utilities, rental 9 

agencies, the weather or the roads.  It is inappropriate for the TGC to seek to override NTPC’s 10 

exercise of judgment based on historical and institutional knowledge for something as critical to 11 

the customers as the provision of emergency backup generation.   12 

NTPC reiterates that while its capital planning improvement process is complete, the capital 13 

planning process document is an internal document and not yet finalized and approved. Ms. 14 

Whitford confirmed that this document is an internal document, intended for internal use only.117
15 

NTPC cautions that because the document itself is a draft, changes may be made from time to 16 

time.  17 

Capital additions undertaken since the last GRA or forecast to be undertaken in the test years and 18 

that were the subject of capital project permit reviews by the Board or were examined during the 19 

hearing are discussed in further detail below. 20 

1) Snare Forks Overhaul Major Project Permit 21 

NTPC has applied for a project permit for the Snare Forks Hydro Unit 1 Overhaul Project. The 22 

project is designed to address known deficiencies at the facility and the project is estimated to 23 

cost $7.9M. NTPC retained an engineering consultant to inspect the Snare Forks unit 1 who 24 

identified deficiencies that could result in lengthy forced outages if left unaddressed. The project 25 

will result in better system reliability and will avoid costly diesel fuel costs associated with a 26 

future unplanned outage. Undertaking the project will ensure the Corporation can continue to 27 

provide safe, reliable, cost effective generation on the Snare system.118
28 

The Corporation submits that the project costs included in the test period are reasonable and 29 

should be approved. 30 

2) Norman Wells Plant replacement project Major Project Permit 31 

NTPC applied for a project permit for the Norman Wells Plant Replacement. The project 32 

involves replacing the existing diesel plant in Norman Wells to maintain system reliability and 33 

integrity and is estimated to cost $4.6M. There are currently issues with the foundation of the 34 

existing power plant to pose risks in terms of reliability, safety and the environment.  The 35 

115 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 285, line 23 to p. 287, line 3. 
116 Transcripts Vol. III, p. 537, line 23 to p. 538 line 3.  
117 Transcripts Vol. 1, p. 203, ll. 19-20 and p. 204, ll. 7-10.  
118 Ex. 1, Application, Appendix D, pdf page 590.  
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project’s anticipated benefits include safer and more reliable service and providing sufficient 1 

capacity to meet the future needs of the community.  2 

The Corporation submits that the project costs included in the test period are reasonable and 3 

should be approved. 4 

3) Other Capital Additions 5 

Jean Marie River Engine Replacement  6 

NTPC replaced an aging diesel generation unit at the Jean Marie River Power Plant, the goal of 7 

which was to increase power output preventing outages due to shortfalls in installed capacity, 8 

and to improve engine reliability and efficiency. This project included anticipated fuel savings of 9 

approximately $30,000 annually. In addition, the plant’s ventilation was improved and noise 10 

levels and exhaust emissions reduced. This project was budgeted to cost $0.540M. The actual 11 

cost was $0.756M.119
12 

NTPC could have replaced the plant at a substantially higher cost rather than improving the 13 

existing plant, which would have resulted in much higher impact on the cost of service. In an 14 

effort to minimize capital costs and extend the life of the plant, NTPC proceeded to renovate the 15 

existing plant and install a new air cooled generator.120
16 

TGC raised concerns with cost overruns and under-scoping on this project. NTPC reiterates that 17 

the full extent of plant improvements required was not known when the project budget was 18 

estimated. NTPC confirmed in its Rebuttal that more aging plant structures and equipment had to 19 

be replaced than was originally planned. While Mr. Horton confirmed that the age of the plant 20 

structures and equipment was known at the budgeting phase, the full impact of that aging 21 

infrastructure on this particular project was not.121
22 

NTPC was implementing a new capital planning process while the project was underway. NTPC 23 

is confident that this improved process would have assisted in mitigating project risks and will 24 

help control and prevent future budgetary excesses. However, it would not have completely 25 

mitigated all risks due to the nature of the project, due to the older plant requiring more 26 

equipment replacement, and the contingency rate of 15% applied to this project did not fully 27 

capture the project risks given the age of the plant.122
28 

Gameti Engine Replacement 29 

NTPC replaced an aging diesel generator and the heat recovery system on the G1 genset in 30 

Gameti, as power demands in that community were reaching the maximum capacity of the plant. 31 

These improvements now provide enough capacity to meet the needs of the community, and to 32 

119 Ex. 1, Application, pdf p. 193.  
120 Ex. 47, NTPC Rebuttal, pdf p. 16. 
121 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 287, ll. 20-22. 
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improve plant efficiency. The Gameti Engine Replacement and Plant Heat Recovery Project was 1 

budgeted to cost $0.9M. The actual cost was $1.277M.123
2 

TGC was concerned that with the cost overruns and the under-scoping of this project as well, in 3 

particular, the heating system upgrade and the purchase of a containerized unit.  4 

TGC questioned why NTPC was not aware of the additional work that would be required if it 5 

was aware of the required heating system upgrade before commencing the project. Mr. Horton 6 

explained:  7 

MR. HORTON:  The original heating system upgrade included a portion of the heat 8 

recovery piping and the heat exchanger for the engine replaced.  When the heating piping 9 

was taken apart and the heat exchanger was inspected, it was found that we needed to 10 

replace another heat exchanger as well as the engine block heat exchangers.  11 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  Thank you.  If I understand correctly, in this capital project, you 12 

bought a containerized plant and then had to take it out and construct it and that led to 13 

some additional costs.  My question is:  Did the design of the project contemplate using a 14 

containerized unit to be installed and connected from outside the power plant?   15 

MR. HORTON:  The concept of using that containerized unit externally to the plant was 16 

dismissed early on in planning.  The design included harvesting the engine from the 17 

container and installing it in the plant to replace an existing gen set.  18 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  Thank you.  What portion of the budgetary excess do you think 19 

would have been related?  The forecast addition was for $900,000 and the actual was 20 

$1.277 million or a difference of $377,000 or 42 per cent.  How much of the excess do 21 

you think was related to removing the gen set from the container and installing it in the 22 

building?   23 

MR. HORTON:  Removing the engine from the container was not a significant 24 

undertaking.  The main extra cost was related to having to replace the radiator that came 25 

with the containerized unit.  It was found to be faulty and had to be replaced.  That was 26 

the major additional cost.12427 

The Corporation decided to purchase a larger capacity unit, the actual cost of which was in 28 

excess of the original budget. As Mr Horton explained, the larger capacity, containerized unit 29 

was purchased at a significant discount, which ultimately results in greater power generation 30 

capacity for the community and capital cost control going forward, and adds value to the 31 

Corporation and the community.125
32 

Fort Good Hope  33 

NTPC purchased and installed a higher capacity diesel genset in order to meet the growing needs 34 

of the Fort Good Hope community, and to increase overall plant fuel efficiency. NTPC 35 

recommended purchasing a new, higher capacity diesel genset, unless a quality used generator 36 

could be found in a timely manner. The Fort Good Hope Engine Replacement Project was 37 
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undertaken over a 2-year period, 2014/15 and 2015/16. This project was budgeted to cost 1 

$0.950M. The actual cost was $1.268MM.126
2 

TGC questioned the cost overruns relating to design issues in connection with the aftercooler. In 3 

its evidence, TGC also suggested that an independent engineering firm should have been retained 4 

to deal with the design. 5 

NTPC confirmed in its Rebuttal that it did engage a professional engineering consultant to 6 

complete project design.127 During oral submissions, Mr. Horton explained that the consultant 7 

retained to complete the design process used engine data from the manufacturer and determined 8 

that the cooler could operate and function properly in the location where it was originally placed. 9 

After the fact, it was determined that in most cases it did operate properly until there were large 10 

loads to deal with. The design was prepared with the information available at the time. The 11 

calculations based on that information indicated that it should have operated properly. In reality, 12 

that was not the case and aftercooler had to be moved. A lower cost option was initially 13 

implemented instead, as it was believed it would satisfy the project objectives while minimizing 14 

costs. A portion of the budget variance was due to other factors unrelated to the relocation of the 15 

after cooler where electrical work was delayed due to operational considerations that required 16 

additional site visits by contractors.128
17 

Mr. Horton confirmed that NTPC had not experienced this issue at other plants:  18 

MR. HORTON:  Historically in other sites, the front wall of the plant in other plants is 19 

not as congested as the Fort Good Hope plant.  The rad structure is a lower structure with 20 

a lot of cross-bracing and further congested with the exhaust silencers, so there was no 21 

ideal location in close proximity.12922 

Colville Modular Power Plant 23 

The Colville Lake Modular Power Plant involved the procurement of a new modular diesel 24 

power plan with the addition of a battery bank and solar panels at Colville Lake. Colville Lake 25 

was chosen as the site for the solar demonstration project due to immediate community need, 26 

community support, and additional funding available from the GNWT supporting the project.130
27 

A major project permit application for this project was approved by the PUB on March 10, 2015 28 

as per Decision 7-2015. The total project spend of $7.368 million exceeded the original total 29 

budget of $6.606 million. The original budget amount reflected the net cost of the project, which 30 

included government funding.131
31 

TGC raised concerns with the Colville Lake project during the hearing including related to the 32 

solar generation and the project being installed in a community of 40. Mr. Horton explained:  33 

126 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 294, ll. 2-9. 
127 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 294, ll. 2-9. 
128 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 294, ll. 2-9.  
129Transcripts Vol. II, p. 294, line 24 to p. 295, line 2.  
130 Ex. 35, Colville Lake PCR, pdf p. 3. 
131 Ex. 35, Colville Lake PCR, pdf p. 4.  
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One of the drivers for selecting Colville Lake was it was due for a plant replacement 1 

anyway. There was a driver there, capital cost had to be expended for the diesel plant. 2 

There was support from the community to do this project there. In addition, there was 3 

support from the GNWT to provide funding for this project at that location.1324 

Mr. Horton confirmed during the hearing that power generation was less than anticipated during 5 

the 2015/16 year at the plant, because the new Colville Lake plant was brought online partway  6 

through the year133 Mr. Horton was also asked about the expected battery life of the Colville 7 

Lake batteries: 8 

MR. HORTON: The expected life of the batteries themselves is approximately up to 10 9 

years, but the system as installed has a longer life. I can't comment what exactly that is at 10 

this time but in excess of 10 years.13411 

Mr. Horton also discussed the prospect of using such a system in other thermal communities and 12 

noted that that Corporation is always looking for opportunities to integrate renewables whether it 13 

be in the thermal or hydro zone.  He did note that it was “important to use subsidy to complete 14 

these projects at this time…” 135
15 

Board staff also discussed this project with NTPC. Mr. Retnanandan raised the sizing of the 16 

diesel units installed.   17 

MR. RETNANANDAN:  All right.  You have the diesel units, and I believe there were 18 

three units.  The sizing of the units depends on how much flexibility is required and given 19 

that there are -- you have installed a flexibility resource in the form of battery storage, 20 

would that have had a bearing on the amount of diesel that you installed as well as on the 21 

sizing of those units?   22 

MR. HORTON:  Because this was a proof-of-concept project, it was felt that the 23 

Corporation needed to install a full complement of diesels for RFC.  24 

MR. RETNANANDAN:  But generally speaking, would you say that if you were to do 25 

this type of approach in other small communities, would you not take into consideration 26 

that if you have a flexibility resource -- a distributed resource in the form of batteries, 27 

would that be a consideration in sizing of the diesel units as well as the amount of RFC 28 

that you would need to carry?   29 

The RFC was determined at a time when you did not have these types of flexibility 30 

resources.  Would you be looking at the RFC in light of new technologies and new 31 

developments that are occurring?  RFC is required firm capacity.   32 

MR. HORTON:  We would look at RFC and take into consideration there are new 33 

technologies that may allow us to reconsider what RFC would be in the future for future 34 

projects.  35 

MR. MCLAREN:  I would just add to what Mr. Horton said.  I think the issue is whether 36 

the resource can be considered reliable and dispatchable and available when needed.  As 37 

you noted, the current RFC criteria was developed at a time when the Corporation didn't 38 

have these types of resources.   39 

132 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 236, ll  3-10.  
133 Transcripts Vol. II, p. 238, ll  5-7.  
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I think as Mr. Horton said, if these resources become understood to meet these criteria, 1 

meaning they can be dispatched as necessary or contribute when necessary at that degree 2 

of reliability, that would be a reasonable consideration in terms of including them as part 3 

of the RFC calculation.1364 

Mr. Retnanandan also questioned whether alternative ownership arrangements would be 5 

considered for these projects which may help defray some of the investment.  Ms. Whitford 6 

confirmed that NTPC and the other northern utilities are investigating what other generation 7 

models may be appropriate.  However, she confirmed “it all comes back to NTPC's ability to serve 8 

and our ability to provide reliable service to the customers that we do have. We are investigating 9 

what options may be out there, but reliability and commitments to customers are two of our key 10 

underlying values.”137
11 

Inuvik Plant Reliability  12 

NTPC identified the need to address a number of deficiencies that negatively affect the reliability 13 

and safety at the Inuvik power plant.  The reliability improvement project at the Inuvik EMD 14 

plant enabled NTPC to improve reliability and enhance the safety of the equipment and staff at 15 

the plant. Implementation of this project avoided the costs associated with potential failures from 16 

operating the plant in a deficient state. The improvements provided plant operators with more 17 

control and reduced the reliance on the Engineering Division in Hay River, in the event of an 18 

equipment failure. This project was budgeted to cost $0.197M, but there was an actual cost of 19 

$0.654M.138
20 

Both NTFL and TGC raised concerns regarding the state of disrepair of the Inuvik EMD plant, 21 

safety and reliability concerns. Questions were raised as to the timing of discovery of the issues 22 

particularly given that NTPC confirmed advised that all plants undergo daily, monthly and 120 23 

day inspections and maintenance, including EMD.  24 

Mr. Horton explained that there are a few key events surrounding this project and this time 25 

period: 26 

MR. HORTON: … One of the issues was the loss of supply of gas for the Inuvik K Plant. 27 

The duty of the EMD plant had to be moved from standby to continuous operating. The 28 

perception in the need of replacement of some of these items would be advanced.  29 

The other condition that occurred is due to the outage as noted, there was an event of 30 

ferroresonance which caused some damage to some of the electrical components in the 31 

plant. The attempts to restore power at that time, with those items damaged, revealed 32 

weakness in the system that had not been revealed before.  33 

One example would be that there was no local control of the rad motors for the EMDs. It 34 

had been designed that way and operated and functioned that way for many years without 35 

a problem. Until that event, it became apparent that it was a weakness. That is one of the 36 

items on the list to be rectified.37 
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Consequently, the project took longer to complete as the EMD plant could not be shut down for 1 

an extended period of time to complete the repairs in an effort to minimize power outages in the 2 

community while the project was being completed.139
3 

Mr. Horton confirmed that since these events, NTPC added two field engineers in Inuvik who 4 

can inspect and assess the functionality of the equipment which should allow for detection of 5 

these issues.140
6 

Inuvik Tank F storage 7 

The project included upgrading the bulk fuel storage in order to remain compliant with 8 

regulatory requirements and current industry practice, and to meet the growing needs of the 9 

communities that rely on it (Inuvik, Fort McPherson and Tsiigehtchic).  The Corporation was 10 

concerned that a structural failure could occur if the tank was left untreated, potentially resulting 11 

in a major diesel spill, putting the environment, staff and the entire Inuvik tank farm at risk. The 12 

original budget for the project was $3.511M, with an actual cost of $4.453M.141
13 

During the hearing, TGC questioned the delays in completing the project that arose out of a 14 

receivership of the contractor.  Mr. Horton clarified that the original contractor in fact had 15 

completed the work before the receivership but there were deficiencies that had to be completed. 16 

In response to Mr. Jeerakathil’s question as to whether the criteria used to select the original 17 

contractor included a financial stability assessment, Mr. Horton confirmed that while the original 18 

selection process did not include a financial stability component:   19 

MR. HORTON: … The contractor who was selected was the premier northern contractor 20 

from the Delta. This company had built many large facilities, schools, hospitals, arenas, 21 

tank farms. They had undertaken many works and this was very much a surprise to us.  22 

The issues related to the leak detection system on this project were, unfortunately, unforeseen. 23 

These are custom systems due to the fact they are supplying a continuous power plant. Mr. 24 

Horton explained that this particular system was selected because it had been used successfully 25 

in the past at other plants. However, at this site there were issued with volume changes due to 26 

temperature in the piping system creating nuisance alarms. NTPC was ultimately required to 27 

move to a different type of leak detection system to resolve the issue.142
28 

Inuvik K-Plant 29 

The Corporation plans to upgrade the ventilation system in the Inuvik K-Plant by replacing the 30 

air handling unit (AHU) with a new higher capacity unit. The previous ventilation system was 31 

designed to accommodate two natural gas gensets. A third genset was added in 2005 and the 32 

existing G11 genset was converted to diesel. The plant ventilation was never upgraded to 33 

accommodate these plant modifications, resulting in a number of plant issues that need to be 34 

rectified. Installing a new higher capacity AHU unit and auxiliary ventilation fans will allow the 35 

gensets to operate at peak output and efficiency, with potential improvements in plant reliability, 36 

139 Ex. 1, Application, pdf p. 196.  
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reduced fuel costs, lower maintenance costs and reduced exhaust emissions. It will also improve 1 

working conditions at the plant. The budget for this project is $0.784M.143
2 

Both TGC expressed concerns with NTPC’s failure to upgrade the ventilation system in a more 3 

timely manner.   4 

NTPC was aware of the ventilation issue and reprioritized the project for completion as part of 5 

the capital planning process. Genset performance was not materially impacted, with normal 6 

levels of fuel being consumed and delivered to the plant. A risk assessment was completed and it 7 

was deemed that other capital projects took precedence over this capital project, as the risks for 8 

the Inuvik plant were being managed by NTPC. The Corporation used liquid cooled fans and 9 

opened the plant overhead doors to mitigate any risks.   10 

Mr. Horton clarified in oral evidence that “the extreme conditions for occupational health and 11 

safety are due to really warm summer temperatures. In Inuvik, it is in terms of year-round. It is fairly 12 

brief.” 13 

In summary, the Corporation plans to add or has completed a number of capital additions which 14 

are providing benefits to customers today and will continue to provide benefits in the future.  15 

NTPC maintains that the project costs were reasonable. The Corporation reiterates that while 16 

some of its projects may have exceeded budget, all were executed efficiently and effectively. The 17 

Corporation is confident that its capital planning process currently in place will result in 18 

improvements in budgeting with the result that costs will be more accurately predicted on future 19 

projects.  The Corporation submits that the projects included in the GRA and the costs of those 20 

projects are prudent and should be approved as part of the rate base for this GRA. 21 

(g) Deferral Accounts  22 

The Corporation maintains a number of deferral account and deferral expenses. Deferral 23 

accounts are established by the PUB when expenditures have benefits that extend beyond a 24 

single year and the expenditure is not covered in the Corporation’s current Revenue 25 

Requirement. The purpose of the accounts is to levelize the charges to customers (via Revenue 26 

Requirement) at a standard normalized amount each year. 27 

Costs recorded in deferral accounts follow the guidelines established by the Board. 28 

NTPC has internal polices and controls to ensure costs recorded to deferral accounts are 29 

appropriate. Costs recorded in the deferral accounts are reviewed and approved by management 30 

on a monthly, quarterly and annual basis.    31 

(i) Regulatory Deferral Account 32 

The regulatory deferral account includes costs for all regulatory hearing, regulatory processes, 33 

and the cost for developing the Net Metering program which was directed by the PUB. 34 

143 Ex. 1, Application, pdf p. 213.  
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NTPC initially was forecasting a lower cost for the 2016/19 GRA due to forecast efficiencies 1 

gained from the new filing requirements resulting from PUB Decision 13-2014. However, in its 2 

March update, NTPC advised of an increase to the regulatory deferral account of $0.200 million 3 

in 2017/18 resulting from costs that were not originally forecast such as the 2016/19 GRA 4 

technical workshop and the net metering workshop. ($0.012 million increase in 2018/19). 5 

NTPC advised in its opening statement of an issue with the regulatory deferral account and 6 

specifically the inclusion of overtime in the regulatory deferral account. 7 

As Ms. Whitford stated:  8 

In the PUBs April 28, 2017 ruling on the scale of costs, the PUB rejected 9 

NTPC's request to include overtime and casuals related to work on regulatory 10 

proceedings as a charge against the hearing cost reserve.  11 

The Board also identified that to the extent there are any material impacts 12 

arising from its ruling on the scale of costs on the 2016/19 GRA forecasts, 13 

NTPC may address the matter at the commencement of the 2016/19 GRA 14 

hearing.  15 

Overtime and casual expenses incurred as part of the regulatory process are a 16 

real cost to NTPC. In NTPC's 2006/08 GRA, in NTPC's response to NUL 17 

NTPC.23, NTPC identified that internal overtime and casuals was a cost 18 

included in its hearing cost reserve. In the 2006/08 GRA and as with all other 19 

NTPC GRA's, because NTPC included these costs in the hearing cost reserve, 20 

they were not included elsewhere in NTPC's Revenue Requirement. Internal 21 

overtime is an incremental cost to NTPC, incurred in creating and responding 22 

to regulatory requirements.  These costs meet the criteria for a deferral 23 

account treatment. If NTPC is not allowed to include these costs in its 24 

hearing cost reserve, NTPC is requesting an increase to the annual Revenue 25 

Requirement of $50,000 for each of the its three Test Years.144
26 

Ms. Strang further clarified the numbers in response to a question from Mr. Retnanandan: 27 

MR. STRANG: The forecast that I gave yesterday was $100,000 to $200,000. That is 28 

what we are forecasting for overtime costs for our application as is presented to the 29 

Board's consideration at the moment.   30 

If overtime is not allowed -- as we don't know what the final overtime would result, we 31 

said if overtime is not allowed in that account as per the Board's ruling -- which is the  32 

reason why Ms. Whitford included that in her opening statement -- we said we would 33 

have to add $50,000 per each test year into operations and maintenance expenses.  34 

MR. RETNANANDAN: I see. It is the $50,000 per year which then makes up the 35 

$100,000. Thank you.14536 

The Corporation is requesting confirmation from the Board that overtime may continue to be 37 

included in the regulatory deferral account consistent with past treatment.   38 

144 Ex. 49, NTPC Opening Statement, pdf p. 5.  
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(ii) Overhaul Deferral Account 1 

The overhaul deferral account includes costs related to engine overhauls for thermal and hydro 2 

plants. 3 

NTPC’s overhaul costs for 2015/16 and 2016/17 were higher due to the timing of overhauls in 4 

plant 128 (Fort Smith) and 136 (Inuvik). Overhaul cost forecasts were lower in 2017/18 and 5 

2018/19 due to the completion of those overhauls in Fort Smith and Inuvik. The Corporation is 6 

forecasting lower overhaul costs for the thermal zone going forward, due to the implementation 7 

of the CMMS system and the in house overhaul strategy. Overhauls in the Snare zone were 8 

forecasted to increase due to the life cycle of overhauls. The Corporation is forecasting 9 

efficiencies in the Taltson zone resulting from the CMMS program reducing the annual overhaul 10 

cost in the 2017/18 and 2018/19 Test years.146
11 

In the Corporation’s March Update filing, it included an increase in the overhaul deferral account 12 

amortization provision as a result of updating for 2015/16 actuals, specifically a $1.1 million 13 

increase in 2018/19.147
14 

The Board wished to examine the basis for NTPC’s depreciation expense and accumulated 15 

depreciation reserve and specifically, the Board requested Gannett Fleming’s review and 16 

comment as to whether NTPC’s engine overhaul process would result in customers paying for 17 

the amortization of certain assets twice. Mr. Kennedy confirmed in response to BR.NTPC-10(i) 18 

that NTPC’s engine overhaul process did not result in customers paying for the amortization of 19 

any investment twice. It resulted in the appropriate level of depreciation and amortization 20 

expense, reflected the average service life estimate of investment, and resulted in the correct 21 

level of Rate Base used in the development of customer tolls.148  Mr. Kennedy further confirmed 22 

in a discussion with Mr. Retnanandan that this practice is common place in the industry:   23 

MR. KENNEDY: …I would say that we are seeing over the last five years very much a 24 

growing trend where utilities with electric generation within their set or within their 25 

organization are moving to having generation overhaul accounts such as we see here.14926 

Based on the evidence on the record in this proceeding, the Corporation submits that the balance 27 

in the Overhaul Deferral Account and the requested annual appropriations are reasonable and 28 

should be approved. 29 

(iii) Water License Deferral Account 30 

The water deferral account includes costs relating to licensing activities. NTPC explained in 31 

response to BR.NTPC-17 that there is a need for increased monitoring and increased frequency 32 

of dam inspection.   33 

NTPC has developed a comprehensive dam inspection and maintenance program, conducting 34 

dam inspections every year and dam crest surveys every year, or every 5 years, depending on 35 

146 Ex. 11, NTPC IR Responses, BR.NTPC-17, pdf p. 109.  
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location and condition. Additionally, NTPC works closely with the GNWT to ensure that its 1 

facilities are operating in a safe, environmentally friendly manner and that all applicable 2 

legislation is met and/or exceeded. Increased monitoring has also resulted in NTPC working in 3 

partnership with Fisheries and Oceans Canada to ensure that NTPC hydroelectric operations 4 

work in conjunction with the movement and spawning cycles of local fish populations. 5 

Additionally, water quality and quantity is monitored at all hydroelectric facilities to ensure that 6 

they are operating in accordance with the terms of the licenses, permits and any other applicable 7 

legislation.150
8 

Mr. Retnanandan questioned whether these amounts still needed to be maintained in a deferral 9 

account given “these are not very significant costs, unlike overhaul costs.”151 Mr Retnanandan 10 

questioned whether those costs could not be treated as a forecast expense. Ms. Whitford 11 

confirmed the rationale for keeping those in a deferral account:  12 

MS. WHITFORD:  If I can add to Mr. Strang's response, part of the reason we created 13 

this water license deferral account originally was because the increasing regulatory costs 14 

from the water license -- or water license costs were increasing at sort of -- every time, 15 

we went forward for a new water license, the requirements would change and the costs 16 

associated with that would increase.   17 

Given the unknown nature of what the Water Board is going to ask of NTPC in terms of 18 

what we need to do, that is why we created this because it was getting more and more 19 

difficult to forecast what our future water license requirement costs would be.  20 

MR. RETNANANDAN:  That is helpful.  What you are saying is a large component of 21 

these costs are externally-imposed costs over which you have little control.  That is your 22 

justification for continuing with the water license deferral account?   23 

MS. WHITFORD:  Yes, that is correct.15224 

Given the evidence on the record, the Corporation submits that the balances in the Water Licence 25 

Deferral Account and the requested annual appropriations are reasonable and should be 26 

approved. 27 

(iv) Reserve for Injuries and Damages 28 

The reserve for injuries and damages deferral account includes costs related to uninsured or 29 

uninsurable losses and the deductible portion of insured claims. 30 

The Corporation was asked why the end of year balances for 2017-2019 were negative and to 31 

confirm if the amortization expense should be reduced. The Corporation advised that it was 32 

proposing an amortization expense of $0.250 million which is a reduction of $0.420 million or 33 

63%. Given the average loss history and the deductible level, an amortization value of $0.250 34 

million per year was appropriate.153
35 
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(v) Employee Future Benefits 1 

NTPC employees may earn non-pensionable benefits for resignation, retirement and ultimate 2 

removal costs based on employee start dates, years of service, final salary and point of hire. The 3 

employee future benefits deferral account includes costs associated with the Corporation’s 4 

liability for employee future benefits. The number of employees eligible to receive those benefits 5 

had increased from 182 in 2012/13 to 193 in 2014/15. The eligibility criteria and terms of the 6 

plans remained unchanged, and was not expected to change for the test years.154
7 

By way of their letter dated March 1, 2017, NTPC advised that there was a reduction to the 8 

employee future benefits amortization ($0.300M reduction in 2018/19). 9 

(vi) Deferral Expenses  10 

Deferral expenses include costs for studies and programs that result in an intangible asset that 11 

has a benefit for more than one year. These include the Enterprise Resource Planning (“ERP”) 12 

project, as approved by the PUB in the 2014/14 GRA, International Financial Reporting 13 

Standards (“IFRS”) conversion project approved by the PUB in the 2012/14 GRA, costs related 14 

to the Public Sector Accounting Standards (“PSAS”) conversion project and the Power System 15 

Plan project.155
16 

In its March 1 update, the Corporation updated Schedule 11.5 with the 2015/16 actual 17 

information.18 

(h) Other Matters 19 

(i) PSAS vs Rate Regulated Accounting  20 

Beginning in 2014/15, NTPC moved to public sector accounting standards (“PSAS”).  However, 21 

given NTPC’s regulatory and public reporting responsibilities, NTPC has adopted a dual 22 

reporting framework, which allows for financial reporting under both PSAS and Rate Regulated 23 

Accounting (RRA) required for regulatory submissions. NTPC’s policies have been updated to 24 

reflect appropriate reporting for RRA transactions and PSAS transactions. 25 

Differences between NTPC’s audited PSAS financial statements and NTPC’s RRA financial 26 

statements are described at pages 1-21 to 1-25 of the Application.  27 

Both TGC and the Board had further questions for NTPC regarding the differences between 28 

PSAS and RRA. TGC sought clarification in relation to the Corporation’s depreciation study 29 

generally:   30 

MR. JEERAKATHIL:  Does the difference in the accounting treatment, I guess -- the 31 

standards between PSAS financial and GRA records affect the depreciation study 32 

particularly with respect to historical records?   33 

154 Ex. 11, NTPC IR Responses, TGC.NTPC-17(g), pdf p. 235.  
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MS. WHITFORD:  No.  Here is why.  I will tell you the difference -- any difference 1 

between -- I will call it PSAS and rate regulated, there are two main differences between 2 

the assets under those two scenarios.  They have to do with intangible assets.   3 

In PSAS, they do not allow for feasibility studies which we do allow for under rate 4 

regulation.  They do a different treatment of assets retirement obligations.  Under PSAS, 5 

they add in this retirement obligation which I believe would not be a factor in Mr. 6 

Kennedy's amortization study.1567 

The Board raised concerns about NTPC’s regulatory records in relation to interim retirements 8 

and salvage:   9 

MR. RETNANANDAN:  I guess, just to have some added assurance here, we are dealing 10 

with just one year post-transition to PSAS.  Let's say NTPC is 10 years down the road 11 

and they have been on PSAS --  12 

Perhaps this is a question for Ms. Whitford.  Is there -- do the company's regulatory 13 

records reflect the appropriate interim retirements and the salvage associated with such 14 

interim retirements which would be different from the way they were treated for PSAS 15 

purposes.  16 

MS. WHITFORD:  NTPC uses a dual accounting framework.  We actually retain 17 

accounting records under both our rate-regulated system and under the PSAS system.  As 18 

we tried to clarify in the technical workshop, we can reconcile -- we maintain separate 19 

records so that we can easily reconcile the two.  We can also provide Mr. Kennedy with 20 

the information he needs to complete his depreciation study for purposes of rate 21 

regulation.15722 

Board Staff also questioned the oversight of those records.  Ms. Whitford confirmed that the 23 

Corporation is accountable to its Board of Directors:  24 

MR. RETNANANDAN:  Just to confirm, these reconciliations are completed as parts of 25 

your -- when you finalize your PSAS accounting records, are the regulatory records also 26 

completed at the same time?  Is there any oversight of the correctness of those records?   27 

MS. WHITFORD:  Yes, they are completed at the same time.  There is -- although they 28 

are unaudited, there is still the same oversight on those records.  29 

MR. RETNANANDAN:  That oversight is provided by whom?   30 

MS. WHITFORD:  That oversight is provided by our board of directors.  It is also 31 

provided by the Public Utilities Board.  We are required to file an annual report of 32 

finances.  In that annual report of finances, we reconcile our PSAS financial statements or 33 

financial results to the rate-regulated results and then ultimately to our revenue 34 

requirement that we produce.15835 

(ii) Terms and Conditions of Service 36 

Although NTPC initially requested certain relief in relation to its terms and conditions of service 37 

in its Phase I Application, at the start of the Phase I oral hearing, NTPC requested that revisions 38 
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to the Terms and Conditions be addressed as part of the Phase II Application.  NTPC will deal 1 

with revisions to the Terms and Conditions in its Phase II argument only.    2 

5. Conclusion 3 

This Argument sets out the reasons and support for the Corporation’s 2016/17, 2017/18 and 4 

2018/19 GRA.  The costs, revenues at existing rates, and resulting shortfalls are based on prudent 5 

and reasonable forecasts of NTPC’s expected operations over the test years.  The proposed 6 

changes to amortization expenses and the phasing in of net salvage as outlined in the 2016 Study 7 

are appropriate and should be adopted.    8 

The Corporation is fully aware of the pressures on customers and heard the concerns raised by 9 

the public during the hearing.  The Corporation fully understands the depth of those concerns and 10 

the impact on customers of any rate hike. The Corporation has worked to achieve what it 11 

believes is an appropriate balance of competing concerns in the current Application.  As Ms. 12 

Whitford said in the Opening Statement:  13 

… the Corporation has put forth a reasonable application based on its 14 

commitments to customers, employees and shareholder reflecting reasonable and 15 

realistic load, cost and revenue forecasts. Approval of the requested Revenue 16 

Requirements and Rate Base balances will allow the Corporation to continue to 17 

provide safe and reliable service to the Northwest Territories.159
18 

Accordingly, NTPC respectfully requests that the Board approve the Corporation’s 2016/19 19 

Phase I Application and grant the requested relief set out in section 1(a) above. 20 

ALL OF WHICH is respectfully submitted this 14th day of August, 2017. 21 

Borden Ladner Gervais LLP, 22 

Counsel for the Northwest Territories Power 23 

Corporation 24 

“Original Signed by Karen Salmon” 25 

Karen A. Salmon  26 
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